
 

 

 

Finance Committee 

Beaufort County, SC 
This meeting will be held in person at the County Council Chambers, 100 Ribaut Road, 

Beaufort, and virtually through Zoom. 

Monday, March 21, 2022 
2:00 PM 

AGENDA 

 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS: 

                               MARK LAWSON, CHAIRMAN                              CHRIS HERVOCHON, VICE CHAIRMAN 
                               GERALD DAWSON                               BRIAN FLEWELLING 
                               STEWART RODMAN 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

3. PUBLIC NOTIFICATION OF THIS MEETING HAS BEEN PUBLISHED, POSTED, AND DISTRIBUTED IN 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE SOUTH CAROLINA FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES- February 22, 2022 

6. CITIZEN COMMENTS - (ANYONE who wishes to speak during the Citizen Comment portion of the 
meeting will limit their comments to no longer than three (3) minutes (a total of 15 minutes) and will 
address Council in a respectful manner appropriate to the decorum of the meeting, refraining from the 
use of profane, abusive, or obscene language) 

7. DIVISION UPDATE FROM ASSISTANT COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR, DALE BUTTS 
 

AGENDA ITEMS 
 

 

8. DISCUSSION AND PRESENTATION OF YEAR-TO-DATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FY 2022, CHIEF 
FINANCIAL OFFICER, HAYES WILLIAMS 

9. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A BUDGET AMENDMENT YEAR 
FISCAL YEAR 2022.  FISCAL IMPACT - FUNDING WILL BE FROM THE OPERATING SURPLUS OF FISCAL YEAR 
2022. 

10. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION FOR THE HILTON HEAD ISLAND AIRPORT TERMINAL 
FINANCING PLAN. 

1



Finance Committee Agenda – Beaufort County, SC 

11. RECOMMEND APPROVAL TO SUBMIT A GRANT APPLICATION FOR THE DRUG-FREE COMMUNITY SUPPORT 
PROGRAM- FISCAL IMPACT: FUNDING OF $125,000 WILL BE OBTAINED ANNUALLY FOR FIVE YEARS AND 
ASSIST THE PREVENTION DEPARTMENT WITH OFF-SETTING EXPENDITURES AND INCREASE 
PROGRAMMING 

12. RECOMMEND APPROVAL FOR THE BEAUFORT COUNTY ASSESSOR TO EXTEND THE TIME FOR FILING FOR 
AN "AGRICULTURAL USE" VALUATION FOR THE TAX YEAR 2021 (R600 037 000 020H 000)  

13. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE PARKS & RECREATION DEPARTMENT TO 
APPLY FOR A $300,000 GRANT FROM SOUTH CAROLINA PARKS, RECREATION & TOURISM 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

 

14. PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE SECTION 30-4-70(A)(2): DISCUSSION OF NEGOTIATIONS INCIDENT TO PROPOSED 
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS AND PROPOSED SALE OR PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY WITH TMS NOS. 
R120-005-000-0105-0000, R120-005-000-0133-0000, R120-005-000-0132-0000, R120-005-132A-0000, 
and R120-005-000-0127-0000 (PROPERTY OWNED BY TCL) 

15. PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE SEC. 30-4-70(A)(2): RECEIPT OF LEGAL ADVICE WHERE THE LEGAL ADVICE 
RELATES TO MATTERS COVERED BY THE ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE (ELECTED & APPOINTED OFFICIALS 
BUDGETS) 

16.  MATTERS ARISING OUT OF EXECUTIVE SESSION 

17.  ADJOURNMENT 

 

TO WATCH COMMITTEE OR COUNTY COUNCIL MEETINGS OR FOR A COMPLETE LIST OF AGENDAS AND 
BACKUP PACKAGES, PLEASE VISIT: 

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html 

 

 

 

 

 

2

https://beaufortcountysc.gov/council/council-committee-meetings/index.html


 

 

 

Finance Committee 

Beaufort County, SC 
This meeting was held both in-person in Council Chambers at 100 Ribaut Road, Beaufort, 

and virtually through Zoom. 

Tuesday, February 22, 2022 
2:00 PM 

MINUTES 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

County Council Chairman Passiment called the meeting to order at 2:03 PM. 
 
PRESENT 
Committee Chairman Mark Lawson 
Council Member Joseph Passiment  
Council Member Gerald Dawson  
Council Member Brian Flewelling- arrived at 2:15 PM  
Council Member Stu Rodman 
Council Member York Glover 
Council Member Alice Howard 
Council Member Lawrence McELynn 
Council Member Paul Sommerville  
 
ABSENT 
Committee Chairman Mark Lawson 
Council Member Logan Cunningham  

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Committee Vice-Chairman Hervochon led the Pledge of Allegiance 

 

3. FOIA 

Committee Vice-Chairman Hervochon stated public notice of this meeting has been published, posted, 
and distributed in compliance with the SC FOIA Act. 

 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

3

Item 5.



Finance Committee Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

Motion: It Was Moved by Council Member Passiment, Seconded by Council Member Glover to Approve 
the Agenda. The Motion Was Approved Without Objection.  
 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Motion: It Was Moved by Council Member Dawson, Seconded by Council Member Passiment, To Approve 
the Minutes from January 18, 2022. The Motion Was Approved Without Objection. 
 

6. CITIZEN COMMENTS  

No Citizen Comments 

 

7. UPDATE FROM ASSISTANT COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR, DALE BUTTS 

 To view the full update, click the link below.  
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977 

 
- Finance Director, Denise Christmas presented an updated travel policy and form  

 
Status: Informational purposes only.  
 

AGENDA ITEMS 

  
 

 

8. DISCUSSION AND PRESENTATION OF YEAR-TO-DATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FY 2022, CHIEF 
FINANCIAL OFFICER, HAYES WILLIAMS  

To view the full discussion and presentation, click the link below.  
 https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977 
  

- Council Member Flewelling requested that the percentage of the budget income be presented in the 
update. 

 
Status: Informational purposes only.  

 

9. PRESENTATION OF THE FISCAL YEAR 2021 ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENT, CHIEF 
FINANCIAL OFFICER, HAYES WILLIAMS- FISCAL IMPACT: BEAUFORT COUNTY HAD A CHANGE IN NET 
POSITION OF $17,857,147 IN THE GENERAL FUND DURING FISCAL YEAR 2021 

To view the full presentation, click the link below.  
 https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977 
 

- Presentation to the Finance Committee of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for Fiscal Year 
2021, period ending June 30, 2021. Beaufort County receives an annual audit from an Independent 
Auditor Mauldin & Jenkins. The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report will be presented in detail by 
Mauldin & Jenkins on February 28, 2022, at the County Council meeting.  

 
Status: Informational purposes only.  

 

4

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977


Finance Committee Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

10. DISCUSSION REGARDING FORENSIC AUDIT, COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR, ERIC GREENWAY- FISCAL 
IMPACT: BEAUFORT COUNTY COULD REDUCE EXPENSE AND SAVE MONEY BY USING INTERNAL 
PERSONNEL TO PERFORM THE ACTIONS THAT WOULD BE PERFORMED IN THE FORENSIC AUDIT. IT 
WOULD HELP WITH FINANCIAL REPORTING AND TRANSPARENCY    

To view the full discussion, click the link below.  
 https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977 
 

- After the internal audit prepared by Elliot Davis, it was suggested that Beaufort County have a forensic 
audit prepared for all County-owned assets over $5,000.00. Beaufort County put the forensic audit 
out to bid.  The County received two bids for the audit.  Since the audit, Finance, Purchasing, and Fleet 
Maintenance have hired additional staff including a new fleet manager, a purchasing administrative 
assistant and Finance is in the process of hiring a fixed assets accountant.  

 
- Committee Vice-Chairman Hervochon felt it necessary to point out that the backup material for the 

bids for the forensic audit was not presented in the agenda as verification of the expenditure being 
too expensive as suggested by staff.  

  
Status: Informational purposes only.  
 

11. UPDATE FROM BUDGET DIRECTOR, PINKY HARRIOT ON THE FY 2023 BUDGET PROCESS  

 To view the full update, click the link below. 
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977 
 
Status: Informational purposes only.  

 

12. RECOMMENDED FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR APPROVAL OF FY 2022 LOCAL 
ACCOMMODATIONS & LOCAL HOSPITALITY GRANT AWARDS, SHANNON MILROY, GRANTS 
ACCOUNTANT- FISCAL IMPACT: RECOMMENDATIONS OF $2,149,808 TO BE PROVIDED OUT OF THE 
LOCAL ACCOMMODATIONS TAX FUND AND THE LOCAL HOSPITALITY TAX FUND 

Discussion: To view the full discussion click the link below.  
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977 
 
- Beaufort County started the Local Accommodation Tax and Local Hospitality Tax application process 

in October of 2021, with the closing of applications on December 31, 2021. The applications were 
reviewed by the Local Accommodation Tax and Local Hospitality Tax Committee for compliance with 
the Local Statutes and their individual need and merit.  The Local Accommodation Tax Fund budgeted 
$2,579,920 to award, and the Local Hospitality Tax Fund budgeted $2,396,736 to award for a 
combined total of $4,976,656 available for 2022 

 
- Council Member Dawson asked for clarification on why the monument for the Tabernacle Baptist 

Church did not fit the scope of funding.  County Administrator Eric Greenway responded that staff felt 
like the monument was not an eligible expense under the A-Tax Ordinance.  

 

- Council Member Glover stated that the monument would bring tourism to the site, and it would be 
difficult to determine the actual number of tourists it would bring in and he will be voting negatively 
on the recommendations and ask for more research be put into the definition buildings and facilities. 
County Administrator Eric Greenway stated that the A-tax ordinance reflects those awards for cultural 

5

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977


Finance Committee Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

tourism are for buildings and facilities and feels that the monument does not fall into that category 
and that Council has a right to funding if so desired.  

 

- Council Member Howard asked for clarification on number #7, Friends of Beaufort County Library. 
Shannon Milroy, Grants Accountant explained that the building is owned by another entity and the 
request was for rain guards for that facility and should be pursued by the City of Beaufort. 

 
Motion: It Was Moved by Council Member Rodman, Seconded by Council Member Flewelling to Approve 
the Recommended First Reading of An Ordinance for Approval of FY 2022 Local Accommodations & Local 
Hospitality Tax Grant Awards. The Motion Was Approved. The Vote: 7/2.  
 
Roll Call Vote: 
Yea- Vice-Chairman Hervochon, Council Member Passiment, Council Member Sommerville, Council 
Member Flewelling, Council Member Rodman, Council Member Howard, Council Member McElynn 
Nay- Council Member Dawson, Council Member Glover 

Status: Forward to Council for approval.  

 
13. RECOMMENDED FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE OF THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY, 

SOUTH CAROLINA (“COUNCIL”) ESTABLISHING AND ADOPTING AN EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES 
(“EMS”) DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEE (“IMPACT FEE”) TO BE IMPOSED ON ALL NEW DEVELOPMENT IN 
THE COUNTY EXCEPT FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT IN THE TOWN OF HILTON HEAD ISLAND; TO ENSURE 
THAT EMS FACILITIES (EMS STATIONS AND EMERGENCY VEHICLES) WILL BE AVAILABLE AND ADEQUATE 
TO ACCOMMODATE THE NEED EXPECTED TO BE GENERATED FROM NEW DEVELOPMENT IN THE 
COUNTY (EXCEPT WITHIN HILTON HEAD ISLAND) BASED ON THE COUNTY’S LEVEL OF SERVICE 
STANDARDS FOR EMS FACILITIES ON A PROPORTIONATE SHARE BASIS TO NEW DEVELOPMENT- CHUCK 
ATKINSON, ASSISTANT COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR 

 

Discussion: To view the full discussion click the link below. (Items 13 and 14 were discussed together) 
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977 

 
- Beaufort County contracted with the firm Tischler Bise to assist them in updating their impact fee 

ordinance, which was originally adopted in 1999.  The original impact fee ordinance addresses parks 
and recreation facilities, library facilities, roads, and fire facilities. Tischler Bise was asked to add EMS 
services. This ordinance applies to all of Beaufort County except for the Town of Hilton Head Island. 
Over the next 10 years, the impact fee is projected to produce $4,190,284 in revenue 

 
- Council Member Flewelling felt that Council needs more time to evaluate these changes due to the 

amount of data presented. 
 

- Council Member Flewelling deferred to Legal Counsel on the ability of Council to obligate future 
Council for an increase without a vote and doesn’t believe that automatic CPI increases are allowable 
without a vote.  County Attorney, Kurt Taylor stated that he will research this inquiry and get back to 
Council.  

 

- Council Member Sommerville wanted to go on the records stating that just because Council passes 
this doesn’t mean the municipalities will. He also believes that any fixed fee should be indexed for 
inflation because it could create a problem.  

 

6

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977


Finance Committee Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

- County Administrator, Eric Greenway stated that a few years back, Council authorized staff to wait 
until the impact fee study was complete before the current impact fees were raised using the CPI and 
that CPI language is in the current ordinance and has been for years and is legally and statutorily 
correct underneath the impact fee statute or the consultant would have mentioned that it needed to 
be removed. 

Motion: It Was Moved By Council Member Rodman, Seconded By Council Member McELynn To Approve 
The  Recommended First Reading Of An Ordinance Of The County Council Of Beaufort County, South 
Carolina (“Council”) Establishing And Adopting An Emergency Medical Services (“Ems”) Development 
Impact Fee (“Impact Fee”) To Be Imposed On All New Development In The County Except For New 
Development In The Town Of Hilton Head Island; To Ensure That Ems Facilities (Ems Stations And 
Emergency Vehicles) Will Be Available And Adequate To Accommodate The Need Expected To Be 
Generated From New Development In The County (Except Within Hilton Head Island) Based On The 
County’s Level Of Service Standards For Ems Facilities On A Proportionate Share Basis To New 
Development. The Motion Was Approved. The Vote: 7/2  
 
Roll Call Vote: 
Yea- Vice-Chairman Hervochon, Council Member Passiment, Council Member Sommerville, Council 
Member Dawson, Council Member Rodman, Council Member Howard, Council Member McElynn 
Nay- Council Member Flewelling, Council Member Glover 

Status: Forward to Council for approval.  

 

 

14. RECOMMEND FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR APPROVAL OF A TEXT AMENDMENT TO THE 
BEAUFORT COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES, CHAPTER 82: IMPACT FEES, ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL; ARTICLE 
II, DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEE PROCEDURES; ARTICLE III, PARKS AND RECREATION FACILITIES; ARTICLE 
V, LIBRARY FACILITIES; ARTICLE VI, FIRE FACILITIES; AND EFFECTIVE DATES 

Discussion: To view the full discussion click the link below.  
https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977 

 

- Beaufort County contracted with the firm Tischler and Bise to assist them in updating their impact fee 
ordinance, which was originally adopted in 1999. This Ordinance addresses parks and recreation 
facilities, library facilities, and fire facilities.  Over the next 10 years the impact fee revisions will result 
in the following projections:  

o Parks and Recreation (North of the Broad): $4,243,418 
o Park and Recreation (South of the Broad): $3,638,828 
o Libraries (North of the Broad): $3,580,784 
o Libraries (South of the Broad): $3,360,712 
o Fire (North of the Broad): $6,316,028 
o Fire (Bluffton): $10,195,965 

Motion: It Was Moved by Council Member Rodman, Seconded by Council Member McELynn to Approve 
the Recommend First Reading of An Ordinance for Approval of a Text Amendment to The Beaufort County 
Code of Ordinances, Chapter 82: Impact Fees, Article I, In General; Article II, Development Impact Fee 
Procedures; Article III, Parks, and Recreation Facilities; Article V, Library Facilities; Article VI, Fire Facilities; 
And Effective Dates. The Motion Was Approved Without Objection. 

 

7

Item 5.

https://beaufortcountysc.new.swagit.com/videos/154977


Finance Committee Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

  
Roll Call Vote: 
Yea- Vice-Chairman Hervochon, Council Member Passiment, Council Member Sommerville, Council 
Member Dawson, Council Member Rodman, Council Member Howard, Council Member McElynn 
Nay- Council Member Flewelling, Council Member Glover 

Status: Forward to Council for approval.  

 

15. RECOMMENDATION FOR CONTRACT AWARD FOR EXTERNAL AUDITING SERVICES RFP 120121 FOR 
BEAUFORT COUNTY TO MAULDIN & JENKINS, SAVANNAH, GA- FISCAL IMPACT: CONTRACT REQUESTS 
IS $260,500 FOR THE THREE-YEAR CONTRACT APPROVAL. THESE FEES WILL BE SPLIT BETWEEN DSN, 
HILTON HEAD ISLAND AIRPORT, AND FINANCE BASED ON THE BREAKDOWN OF FEES FROM THE 
PROPOSAL ON A YEARLY BASIS.  

Motion: It Was Moved by Council Member Flewelling, Seconded by Council Member Passiment to 
Approve the Recommendation for Contract Award for External Auditing Services RFP 120121 For Beaufort 
County to Mauldin and Jenkins, Savannah, GA. The Motion Was Approved Without Objection.  
 

Status: Forward to Council for approval.  

 

16. RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF A RESOLUTION FOR THE ACCEPTANCE OF A GRANT AWARD FROM THE SC 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FOR THE DAUFUSKIE ISLAND FERRY 

Motion: It Was Moved by Council Member Glover, Seconded by Council Member Flewelling to Approve 
the Recommend Approval of a Resolution for The Acceptance of a Grant Award from The SC Department 
of Transportation for The Daufuskie Island Ferry. The Motion Was Approved Without Objection.  
 

Status: Forward to Council for approval.  

 

17. APPOINTMENT OF ROBERT BIBLE TO THE BOARD OF ASSESSMENT APPEALS FOR A FIRST-TERM WITH 
AN EXPIRATION DATE OF 2026 

Motion: It Was Moved by Council Member Howard, Seconded by Council Member Flewelling to Approve 
the Appointment of Robert Bible to The Board of Assessment Appeals for A First-Term with An Expiration 
Date Of 2026. The Motion Was Approved Without Objection.  
 

Status: Forward to Council for approval.  

- Council Member Rodman mentioned temporarily expanding the Board due to the re-assessments 
and appeals that are happening.   

- Clerk to Council, Sarah Brock said that the membership can be raised by way of Resolution and 
would send information out to Council 

 

18. ADJOURNMENT  

The meeting adjourned at 3:18 PM. 

 

 

8

Item 5.



Finance Committee Minutes – Beaufort County, SC 

Ratified by Committee:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

9

Item 5.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 
ITEM TITLE: 

              Division Update 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance Committee 3/21/22 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Dale Butts, Finance Division ACA  

5 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Monthly Finance Division Update  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Briefing of what divisional departments are doing. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

None 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

None 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

N/A 
 

10

Item 7.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Discussion and presentation of year to date financial statements for FY 2022. 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance Committee 03/21/2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Hayes Williams Chief Financial Officer  

15 Minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Discussion and presentation of the year to date financial reports for FY 2022.   

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Discussion and presentation of the year to date financial reports for FY 2022. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

None. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Discussion and related questions. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

N/A  

 

11

Item 8.



General Fund Revenues

Budget FY 2022: 132,662,999$                                 

Revenue Collected to Date: 120,876,291$                                 

Revenue Remaining to be Collected: 11,786,708$                                   

Percent of Total Budget Collected: 91.12%

Percent of Year Completed: 66.66%

Revenue Analysis 

Function Budget To Date  % Received % Year Completed

Ad Valorem taxes 100,823,197$               100,853,345$                                  100.03% 66.66%

Licenses & permits  4,013,750$                   1,787,349$                                      44.53% 66.66%

Intergovernmental  10,108,473$                 4,115,583$                                      40.71% 66.66%

Charges for services 14,135,800$                 11,251,140$                                    79.59% 66.66%

Fines and forfeitures 692,100$                       380,092$                                          54.92% 66.66%

Interest 175,700$                       69,306$                                            39.45% 66.66%

Miscellaneous revenues 290,900$                       968,482$                                          332.93% 66.66%

Transfers in 2,423,079$                   1,450,994$                                      59.88% 66.66%

For revenues with variances over 5% of the year completed, a brief explanation is provided below:

Ad Valorem taxes ‐ exceeding expectations due to increase in transfers of property and building over the last several years.

Licenses & permits ‐ are currently lagging, they should correct by year end.

Intergovernmental ‐ are currently lagging, they should correct by year end.

Charges for services ‐ Register of Deeds continues to have a record year.

Fines and forfeitures ‐ expected to continue upward trending.

Interest ‐ rates are still low and lagging compared to budget.

Miscellaneous revenues ‐ increase due to sale of DSN building $737k.

Transfers in ‐ should correct by year end.

Executive Summary of Revenues and Expenditures

Through February 28, 2022

0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

200.00%

250.00%

300.00%

350.00%

Ad Valorem taxes Licenses & permits Intergovernmental Charges for services Fines & forfeitures Interest Miscellaneous revenues Transfers in

General Fund Revenues through February 2022

2022 2021

12

Item 8.



General Fund Expenditures

Budget FY 2022: 132,402,978$                                 

Budget carryover from FY 2021: 3,020,000$                                     

Amendments and transfers: 6,215$                                             

Total revised budget FY 2022: 135,429,193$                                 

Actual Expenditures to Date: 78,234,198$                                   

Encumbrances: 7,870,690$                                     

Total Expensed & Encumbered to Date: 86,104,888$                                   

Remaining budget FY 2022  49,324,305$                                   

Percent of Total Budget Expended: 63.58%

Percent of Year Completed: 66.66%

Expense Analysis

Function Budget To Date  % Received % Year Completed

General Government 53,570,183$                 34,038,434$                                    63.54% 66.66%

Public Safety 51,122,684$                 33,154,700$                                    64.85% 66.66%

Public Works 11,539,909$                 7,040,169$                                      61.01% 66.66%

Public Health  3,491,577$                   2,462,350$                                      70.52% 66.66%

Public Welfare 633,849$                       346,202$                                          54.62% 66.66%

Culture & Recreation 14,644,603$                 8,725,902$                                      59.58% 66.66%

Other 426,388$                       337,131$                                          79.07% 66.66%

For expenditures with variances over 5% of the year completed, a brief explanation is provided below:

Public Works ‐ below expectations.

Public Welfare ‐ Following expectations. 

Culture & Recreation ‐ Parks and recreation are significantly below expectations.

Other ‐ Spending on Economic Development by Beaufort County Economic Development Corporation.

Executive Summary of Revenues and Expenditures

Through February 28, 2022

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

140.00%

General Government Public Safety Public Works Public Health Public welfare Culture & Recreation Other

General Fund Expenditures through February 2022

2022 2021

13

Item 8.



Actual

Approved Revised Spent & 

Budget  Budget  Encumbered Percent of 

6/30/2022 6/30/2022 2/28/2022 Variances Budget

Ad Valorem taxes

Current taxes 89,878,716$      89,878,716$      95,346,373$         5,467,657$       106.08%

Delinquent taxes 1,388,317          1,388,317          306,260                (1,082,057)        22.06%

Automobile taxes 8,356,164          8,356,164          4,854,243             (3,501,921)        58.09%

3% & 7% penalties on tax 450,000              450,000              222,346                (227,654)            49.41%

5% penalties on tax 750,000              750,000              124,123                (625,877)            16.55%

Total Ad Valorem taxes 100,823,197      100,823,197      100,853,345         30,148               100.03%

Licenses & permits 

Building permits 1,310,650          1,310,650          1,045,024             (265,626)            79.73%

Electricians' licenses 3,000                  3,000                  ‐                         (3,000)                0.00%

Mobile home permits 15,000                15,000                17,015                   2,015                 113.43%

Marriage licenses 60,000                60,000                42,055                   (17,945)              70.09%

Cable television franchises 434,300              434,300              37,050                   (397,250)            8.53%

Business license 2,100,000          2,100,000          623,950                (1,476,050)        29.71%

Alcohol beverage license 90,800                90,800                21,855                   (68,945)              24.07%

Total licenses and permits 4,013,750          4,013,750          1,787,349             (2,226,401)        44.53%

Intergovernmental 

State aid to subdivisions 7,269,783          7,269,783          3,743,371             (3,526,412)        51.49%

Homestead exemption 2,150,000          2,150,000          ‐                         (2,150,000)        0.00%

Merchants inventory tax 186,310              186,310              139,732                (46,578)              75.00%

Manufacturer tax exempt program 23,200                23,200                ‐                         (23,200)              0.00%

Motor carrier payments 215,000              215,000              125,127                (89,873)              58.20%

Payments in lieu of taxes 210,000              210,000              70,875                   (139,125)            33.75%

Payments in lieu of taxes ‐ federal 17,000                17,000                ‐                         (17,000)              0.00%

Local assessment fee UBER 8,500                  8,500                  3,816                     (4,684)                44.89%

Veteran's Officer stipend 5,480                  5,480                  2,808                     (2,672)                51.24%

Voter regulation and election stipends 11,000                11,000                9,750                     (1,250)                88.64%

Salary supplements for state 7,200                  7,200                  3,940                     (3,260)                54.72%

Poll 5,000                  5,000                  ‐                         (5,000)                0.00%

FEMA grant  ‐                      ‐                      16,164                   16,164              

Total intergovernmental  10,108,473        10,108,473        4,115,583             (5,992,890)        40.71%

Charges for services

Register of Deeds 8,457,900          8,457,900          7,727,785             (730,115)            91.37%

Sheriff's fees 43,900                43,900                24,102                   (19,798)              54.90%

Probate fees 595,100              595,100              414,282                (180,818)            69.62%

Solicitor fees 1,600                  1,600                  ‐                         (1,600)                0.00%

Magistrate fees 142,000              142,000              76,105                   (65,895)              53.60%

Clerk of Court fees 115,000              115,000              67,409                   (47,591)              58.62%

Family Court fees 274,000              274,000              156,785                (117,215)            57.22%

Master in Equity fees 291,000              291,000              55,433                   (235,567)            19.05%

Treasurer fees 28,600                28,600                16,687                   (11,913)              58.35%

Emergency Medical Service Fees 3,362,500          3,362,500          2,317,505             (1,044,995)        68.92%

DSO fees 95,500                95,500                46,654                   (48,846)              48.85%

Animal Shelter fees 5,000                  5,000                  6,060                     1,060                 121.20%

Library copy fees 2,000                  2,000                  1,561                     (439)                   78.05%

Other fees 7,500                  7,500                  5,336                     (2,164)                71.15%

Video Production 36,800                36,800                83,860                   47,060               227.88%

Telephone services others 14,500                14,500                453                        (14,047)              3.12%

Detention Center Daywatch 3,300                  3,300                  ‐                         (3,300)                0.00%

Hilton Head Island holding facilities 34,800                34,800                ‐                         (34,800)              0.00%

Payroll services to Fire Departments 13,800                13,800                6,748                     (7,052)                48.90%

Credit card convenience fees 163,700              163,700              51,195                   (112,505)            31.27%

Parks and recreation fees 447,300              447,300              186,077                (261,223)            41.60%

Project income ‐                      ‐                      7,103                     7,103                

Total charges for services 14,135,800        14,135,800        11,251,140           (2,884,660)        79.59%

Beaufort County

Detail of Revenues ‐ General Fund

For the Period July 1, 2021 ‐ February 28, 2022

14

Item 8.



Actual

Approved Revised Spent & 

Budget  Budget  Encumbered Percent of 

6/30/2022 6/30/2022 2/28/2022 Variances Budget

Beaufort County

Detail of Revenues ‐ General Fund

For the Period July 1, 2021 ‐ February 28, 2022

Fines and forfeitures

General Sessions fines 11,500                11,500                6,215                     (5,285)                54.04%

Bonds escreatment 15,000                15,000                974                        (14,026)              6.49%

Magistrate fines 537,600              537,600              314,159                (223,441)            58.44%

Other fines 15,000                15,000                ‐                         (15,000)              0.00%

Library fines 25,000                25,000                25,560                   560                     102.24%

Forfeiture 3,000                  3,000                  ‐                         (3,000)                0.00%

Late penalties ‐ Business Services 85,000                85,000                33,184                   (51,816)              39.04%

Total fines and forfeitures 692,100              692,100              380,092                (312,008)            54.92%

Interest 175,700              175,700              69,306                   (106,394)            39.45%

Miscellaneous revenues

Miscellaneous revenues 52,200                52,200                40,294                   (11,906)              77.19%

Rental of property to others 75,800                75,800                23,868                   (51,932)              31.49%

Sale of County property  162,900              162,900              904,320                741,420             555.14%

Total miscellaneous revenues 290,900              290,900              968,482                677,582             332.93%

Transfers in

Transfers in other funds 2,423,079          2,423,079          1,450,994             (972,085)            59.88%

Total transfers in 2,423,079          2,423,079          1,450,994             (972,085)            59.88%

Total revenues General Fund 132,662,999$   132,662,999$   120,876,291$      (11,786,708)$    91.12%

15

Item 8.



Actual

Approved Revised Spent & 

Budget  Budget  Encumbered Percent of 

6/30/2022 6/30/2022 2/28/2022 Variances Budget

General Government

Magistrate's Court  2,281,963$         2,281,963$            1,421,739$        860,224$          62.30%

Clerk of Court and Family Court 1,610,387           1,751,971              942,819             809,152            53.81%

Treasurer  2,276,591           2,276,591              1,431,114          845,477            62.86%

Solicitor 1,887,500           1,887,500              1,415,625          471,875            75.00%

Probate Court 944,724               944,724                  559,129             385,595            59.18%

County Council 977,085               1,102,085              602,597             499,488            54.68%

Auditor 1,136,470           1,136,470              712,247             424,223            62.67%

Coroner 794,875               805,807                  521,961             283,846            64.77%

Master in Equity 426,427               426,427                  231,158             195,269            54.21%

Legislative Delegation 68,789                 68,789                    31,792                36,997              46.22%

County Administrator 1,940,950           2,027,623              1,197,411          830,212            59.05%

Communications & accountability 303,609               303,609                  169,232             134,377            55.74%

Broadcast services 398,429               398,429                  233,160             165,269            58.52%

County Attorney 860,112               860,112                  570,617             289,495            66.34%

Finance 1,361,024           1,361,024              774,962             586,062            56.94%

Risk management 4,885,446           4,903,446              2,694,991          2,208,455        54.96%

Purchasing 208,686               237,903                  128,121             109,782            53.85%

Assessor 2,132,180           2,132,180              1,212,777          919,403            56.88%

Register of deeds 528,477               539,595                  279,765             259,830            51.85%

Community planning and development 996,984               996,984                  550,921             446,063            55.26%

Business services 387,329               387,329                  212,755             174,574            54.93%

Voter registration and elections 935,486               935,486                  677,532             257,954            72.43%

Management & Geographical information systems 5,839,546           5,813,428              4,403,167          1,410,261        75.74%

Records Management 669,218               669,218                  307,919             361,299            46.01%

Employee services  828,664               828,664                  458,191             370,473            55.29%

Nondepartmental 18,616,955         18,492,826            12,296,732        6,196,094        66.49%

Total General Government 53,297,906         53,570,183            34,038,434        19,531,749      63.54%

Public Safety

Sheriff's office 27,947,144         29,276,077            19,306,036        9,970,041        65.94%

Emergency Management ‐ COVID‐19 Supplies ‐                       ‐                           81,598                (81,598)            

EMS Emergency Medical Service 10,373,104         10,996,151            7,414,018          3,582,133        67.42%

Traffic and transportation engineering 817,597               820,464                  265,488             554,976            32.36%

Detention Center 7,278,666           7,249,449              4,447,274          2,802,175        61.35%

Building and codes enforcement 1,368,572           1,368,572              642,480             726,092            46.95%

Animal services 1,287,016           1,411,971              997,806             414,165            70.67%

Total Public Safety 49,072,099         51,122,684            33,154,700        17,967,984      64.85%

Public Works

Public works general support 4,808,699           4,841,536              2,897,817          1,943,719        59.85%

Engineering 499,816               502,816                  321,360             181,456            63.91%

Facilities maintenance 5,969,922           6,160,146              3,785,581          2,374,565        61.45%

Solid waste & recycling ‐ carryover ‐                       35,411                    35,411                ‐                    

Total Public Works 11,278,437         11,539,909            7,040,169          4,499,740        61.01%

Public Health

Mosquito control 1,662,599           1,705,027              1,122,437          582,590            65.83%

Medical indigent act contributions 1,786,550           1,786,550              1,339,913          446,637            75.00%

Total Public Health 3,449,149           3,491,577              2,462,350          1,029,227        70.52%

Beaufort County

Detail of Expenditures ‐ General Fund

For the Period July 1, 2021 ‐ February 28, 2022

16

Item 8.



Actual

Approved Revised Spent & 

Budget  Budget  Encumbered Percent of 

6/30/2022 6/30/2022 2/28/2022 Variances Budget

Beaufort County

Detail of Expenditures ‐ General Fund

For the Period July 1, 2021 ‐ February 28, 2022

Public Welfare Services

Veteran's affairs office 181,182               181,182                  129,702             51,480              71.59%

Human services alliance 398,000               398,000                  216,500             181,500            54.40%

Human and social services 54,667                 54,667                    ‐                      54,667              0.00%

Total Public Welfare Services 633,849               633,849                  346,202             287,647            54.62%

Cultural and Recreational

Parks and recreation services 5,190,351           5,589,804              2,616,415          2,973,389        46.81%

Libraries 4,151,343           4,151,343              2,431,895          1,719,448        58.58%

Education allocation 4,903,456           4,903,456              3,677,592          1,225,864        75.00%

Total Cultural and Recreational 14,245,150         14,644,603            8,725,902          5,918,701        59.58%

Other ‐ Economic Development 426,388               426,388                  337,131             89,257              79.07%

Total Expenditures General Fund 132,402,978$    135,429,193$        86,104,888$     49,324,305$    63.58%

17

Item 8.



Yearly Year to date Available % % Year 

Revised budget Spent/ encumbered Budget Received Completed

Operating revenues

Ad Valorem Taxes 9,911,562$                6,607,708$                    (3,303,854)$      66.67% 66.66%

Waste Disposal Fees 98,500                        8,480                              (90,020)              8.61% 66.66%

Sale of Recyclables 148,500                      223,460                         74,960               150.48% 66.66%

Total operating revenues 10,158,562                6,839,648                      (3,318,914)        67.33% 66.66%

Operating expenses

Personnel services 2,728,083                  1,485,889                      1,242,194         54.47% 66.66%

Purchased services 7,238,721                  7,013,882                      224,839             96.89% 66.66%

Supplies 166,000                      57,829                           108,171             34.84% 66.66%

Capital  5,779                          6,450                              (671)                   111.61% 66.66%

Depreciation 34,979                        ‐                                  34,979               0.00% 66.66%

Total operating expenses 10,173,562                8,564,050                      1,609,512         84.18% 66.66%

Operating income (loss) (15,000)                       (1,724,402)                    (1,709,402)        11496.01% 66.66%

Non‐Operating Revenues (Expenses)

Interest income  ‐                              303                                 303                     #DIV/0! 66.66%

Total capital contributions ‐                              303                                 303                     #DIV/0! 66.66%

Change in net position (15,000)                       (1,724,099)                    (1,709,099)        ‐11493.99% 66.66%

Net position, beginning of year ‐                                 

Net position, ending (1,724,099)$                 

Beaufort County, South Carolina

Solid Waste & Recycling Enterprise Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

For the Fiscal Year from July, 1, 2021 through February 28, 2022

18

Item 8.



Yearly Year to date Available % % Year 

Revised budget Spent/ encumbered Budget Received Completed

Operating revenues

Stormwater Utility Fees 6,144,440$                5,822,471$                    (321,969)$         94.76% 66.66%

Stormwater Utility project billings 766,500                      748,880                          (17,620)              97.70% 66.66%

Project income ‐                               1,658                              1,658                 66.66%

Other charges 14,500                        12,042                            (2,458)                83.05% 66.66%

Total operating revenues 6,925,440                   6,585,051                      (340,389)            95.08% 66.66%

Operating expenses

Personnel services 3,251,839                   1,474,836                      1,777,003          45.35% 66.66%

Purchased services 6,606,657                   2,459,163                      4,147,494          37.22% 66.66%

Supplies 437,980                      173,794                          264,186             39.68% 66.66%

Capital  215,886                      70,643                            145,243             32.72% 66.66%

Depreciation 470,500                      ‐                                  470,500             0.00% 66.66%

Total operating expenses 10,982,862                4,178,436                      6,804,426          38.05% 66.66%

Operating income (loss) (4,057,422)                 2,406,615                      6,464,037          ‐59.31% 66.66%

Non‐Operating Revenues (Expenses)

Gain on sale of capital assets 3,500                          1,116                              (2,384)                0.00% 66.66%

Interest income  30,000                        16,753                            (13,247)              55.84% 66.66%

Federal Grants ‐                               142,937                          142,937             66.66%

Interest expense (188,268)                     (188,231)                        37                       99.98% 66.66%

Transfers out to General Fund (350,000)                     (262,500)                        87,500               75.00% 66.66%

Total capital contributions (504,768)                     (289,925)                        214,843             57.44% 66.66%

Change in net position (4,562,190)                 2,116,690                      6,678,880          46.40% 66.66%

Net position, beginning of year 12,155,521                   

Net position, ending 14,272,211$                 

Net position

Net investment in capital assets  2,912,602                     

Unrestricted surplus 11,359,609                   

Total net position 14,272,211$                 

Beaufort County, South Carolina

Stormwater Utility

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

For the Fiscal Year from July, 1, 2021 through February 28, 2022

19

Item 8.



Yearly Year to date Available % % Year 

Revised budget Spent/ encumbered Budget Received Completed

Operating revenues

Fixed base operator revenue 630,500$                    426,209$                       (204,291)$         67.60% 66.66%

Operating agreement/ commission revenue 843,000                      847,088                         4,088                 100.48% 66.66%

Firefighting/ security fees 705,000                      658,753                         (46,247)              93.44% 66.66%

Landing fees 325,000                      209,108                         (115,892)            64.34% 66.66%

Parking fees 47,500                        163,796                         116,296             344.83% 66.66%

Rentals 767,000                      635,571                         (131,429)            82.86% 66.66%

Hangar rentals 196,100                      126,398                         (69,702)              64.46% 66.66%

Other charges 215,000                      160,361                         (54,639)              74.59% 66.66%

Total operating revenues 3,729,100                   3,227,284                      (501,816)            86.54% 66.66%

Operating expenses

Personnel services 1,381,630                   820,413                         561,217             59.38% 66.66%

Purchased services 2,105,617                   1,792,315                      313,302             85.12% 66.66%

Supplies 54,150                        40,688                            13,462               75.14% 66.66%

Depreciation 545,000                      ‐                                  545,000             0.00% 66.66%

Total operating expenses 4,086,397                   2,653,416                      1,432,982          64.93% 66.66%

Operating income (loss) (357,297)                     573,868                         (1,934,798)        21.61% 66.66%

Non‐Operating Revenues (Expenses)

Operating grant 42,500                        31,400                            (11,100)              73.88% 66.66%

Passenger facility charges 535,000                      273,016                         (261,984)            51.03% 66.66%

Interest income ‐                               508                                 508                     0.00% 66.66%

Interest expense (75,000)                       (33,796)                          (41,204)              45.06% 66.66%

Total Non‐Operating Revenues (Expenses) 502,500                      271,128                         (313,780)            53.96% 66.66%

Income (loss) before capital contributions and transfers 145,203                      844,997                         (2,248,578)        581.94% 66.66%

Capital contributions

Capital grants ‐ federal 2,910,000                   881,966                         (2,028,034)        0.00% 66.66%

Capital grants ‐ SCAC ‐                               153,742                         153,742             0.00% 66.66%

Capital outlay (3,074,033)                 (9,353,470)                     (6,279,437)        304.27% 66.66%

Total capital contributions (164,033)                     (8,317,762)                     (8,153,729)        66.66%

Change in net position (18,830)                       (7,472,765)                     (7,453,935)        39684.58% 66.66%

Net position, beginning of year 22,079,682                   

Net position, ending 14,606,917$                 

Net position

Net investment in capital assets  32,086,441$                 

Unrestricted deficit (17,479,524)                  

Total net position 14,606,917$                 

Amount advanced from the General Fund at June 30, 2021 7,177,017$                   

Note receivable from Debt Service Fund at June 30, 2021 2,599,297                     

9,776,314$                   

Beaufort County, South Carolina

Hilton Head Island Airport

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Fiscal year to date July 1, 2021 through February 28, 2022

20

Item 8.



Yearly Year to date Available % % Year 

Revised budget Spent/ encumbered Budget Received Completed

Operating revenues

Fuel and oil sales 729,000$                        473,725$                        (255,275)$     64.98% 66.66%

Operating agreement/ commission revenue 7,500                               8,323                               823                110.97% 66.66%

Concession sales 9,500                               5,260                               (4,240)           55.37% 66.66%

Landing fees 37,000                             28,797                             (8,203)           77.83% 66.66%

Hangar rentals 184,340                          64,064                             (120,276)       34.75% 66.66%

Other charges ‐                                   39,532                             39,532          0.00% 66.66%

Total operating revenues 967,340                          619,701                          (347,639)       64.06% 66.66%

Operating expenses

Cost of sales and services 535,910                          447,538                          88,372          83.51% 66.66%

Personnel services 195,417                          121,199                          74,218          62.02% 66.66%

Purchased services 229,820                          181,128                          48,692          78.81% 66.66%

Supplies 6,150                               11,885                             (5,735)           193.25% 66.66%

Total operating expenses 967,297                          761,750                          205,547        78.75% 66.66%

Operating income (loss) 43                                     (142,049)                         (142,092)       ‐14.69% 66.66%

Capital contributions

Capital grants ‐ federal ‐                                   239,815                          239,815        0.00% 66.66%

Captial grants ‐ state ‐                                   39,486                             39,486          0.00% 66.66%

Capital outlay ‐                                   (442,575)                         (442,575)       0.00% 66.66%

Total capital contributions ‐                                   (163,274)                         (163,274)       ‐                            66.66%

Change in net position 43                                     (305,323)                         (305,366)       ‐704807.25% 33.33%

Net position, beginning of year 2,586,074                      

Net position, ending 2,280,752$                    

Net position

Net investment in capital assets  4,254,080                      

Unrestricted deficit (1,973,329)                     

Total net position 2,280,752$                    

Amount advanced from other funds at June 30, 2021 1,480,508$                    

Beaufort County, South Carolina

Beaufort Executive Airport

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

For the Fiscal Year from July, 1, 2021 through February 28, 2022

21

Item 8.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Recommend approval of first reading of an Ordinance for a budget amendment year fiscal year 2022. 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance Committee   March 21, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Whitney Richland Deputy County Administrator and Hayes Williams Chief Financial Officer  

15 to 20 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Administration has estimated a current year operating surplus of approximately $9-11 million.  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Administration recommends to using e the surplus to accomplish emergency repairs to the Bluffton 
Pool, partial funding of COVID pay for employees, TCL property acquisition for affordable housing, a 
cost of living adjustment for employees, Arthur Horne Building construction overage, the emergency 
purchase of EMS equipment, and detention center deferred maintenance. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Funding will be from the operating surplus of fiscal year 2022.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends that the County Council proceed with the first reading of the Ordinance. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve/deny a budget amendment appropriating current year fiscal year 2022 surpluses.  

Move forward to Council for First Reading on April 4, 2022, 

 

22

Item 9.



Beaufort County 

List of projects/ initiatives for use of fiscal year 2022 surplus

Estimated

Project/initiative Amount

M.C. Riley Pool roof demolition 1,000,000$                               

ARPA payout 1,750,000                                 

Cost of living adjustment 850,000                                    

Arthur Horne Building overage 900,000                                    

EMS ambulances, QRV's & equipment 1,900,000                                 

Detention Center deferred maintenance 1,000,000                                 

Total 7,400,000$                               

23

Item 9.



ORDINANCE 2022/____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND BEAUFORT COUNTY ORDINANCE 2021/20 FOR THE 

FISCAL YEAR 2021-22 BEAUFORT COUNTY BUDGET TO PROVIDE FOR 

ADDITIONAL APPROPRIATIONS TO PAY FOR EMERGENCY REPAIRS TO THE 

BLUFFTON POOL, PARTIAL FUNDING OF COVID PAY FOR EMPLOYEES, AND 

THE EMERGENCY PURCHASE OF EMS EQUIPMENT, AND OTHER MATTERS 

RELATED THERETO 

 

WHEREAS, on June 28, 2021, Beaufort County Council adopted Ordinance No. 

2021/20 which set the County's FY 2021-2022 budget and associated expenditures; and 

WHEREAS, it has been determined to be necessary and proper to appropriate certain 

funds for expenses which are immediate in need; and 

WHEREAS, Council wishes to appropriate these additional funds from the current 

year operating surplus from the general fund; and 

WHEREAS, in the interest of good accounting practices and transparency in the budget 

process it is beneficial and necessary to amend the budget to reflect this additional appropriation 

of funds; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by Beaufort County Council that the FY 

2021-2022 Beaufort County Budget Ordinance (Ordinance 2021/_____) is hereby amended as 

follows: 

1. The sum of $1,000,000 is hereby appropriated for emergency repairs to the Bluffton 

Pool. 

2. The sum of $1,750,000 is hereby appropriated to provide partial funding of COVID pay 

for employees. 

3. The sum of $850,000 is hereby appropriated to provide cost of living adjustment for 

Beaufort County.  

4. The sum of $900,000 is hereby appropriated to provide additional funding for the 

Arthur Horne Building Construction. 

5. The sum of $1,750,000 is hereby appropriated to provide funding for ambulances, 

QRV’s and needed equipment. 

6. The sum of $1,000,000 is hereby appropriated to provide funding for the Detention 

Center deferred maintenance which has outlived its useful life. 

The funds are to be appropriated from countywide general fund surplus for fiscal year 2022. 

 

DONE this _________ day of May, 2022. 

 

COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

     By:_________________________________________ 
24

Item 9.



       Joseph Passiment, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 

___________________________________ 

Sarah Brock, Clerk to Council 

 

 

First Reading:  

Second Reading:  

Public Hearing:  

Third Reading

25

Item 9.



 

26

Item 9.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Discussion of Hilton Head Island Airport Terminal financing. 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance Committee 03/21/2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Hayes Williams Chief Financial Officer  

10 Minutes  

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Administration and staff are working to obtain funding for the Hilton Head Island Airport Expansion.  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

This is an update to the Finance Committee for the funding of the Hilton Head Island Airport 
Expansion. Administration and staff are working to get a request for proposal and bids in by June of 
2022. Administration and staff have identified potential funding sources and are working on getting 
them in place for the Airport Expansion.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Some of the grants have matching requirements, as we continue to get more information we will 
share with the Finance Committee.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends delaying financing on the Hilton Head Island Airport Expansion for the immediate 
future. Based on potential grants and funding, financing would not need to be in place until late 2023 
or early 2024. 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

N/A 

 

 

27

Item 10.



Hilton Head Island Airport 

Discussion of funding and timeline

Timeline: 

Activity Period Needed Year

Request for proposal Now‐June 30, 2022 2022

Award Process July 1, 2022 ‐ August 30, 2022 2022

Construction begins December 2022 ‐ January 2023 2022

Construction process January ‐ December 2023 2023

Construction process January ‐ December 2024 2024

Construction process January ‐ July 2025 2025

Cash needed for construction draws estimated cost $55,000,000:

Year Cash needs

2022 2,000,000$                                        

2023 10,000,000                                        

2024 25,000,000                                        

2025 18,000,000                                        

55,000,000$                                     

Grants that have been awarded or are possible to fund Hilton Head Island Airport Upgrade

Grant Amount Year available

FAA ‐ Grant 45 Awarded 90% with 10% 

match from County 10,000,000$                                      2022

FAA ‐ Grant application in the works; 

probable award; 90% with 10% from 

County 10,000,000                                         2023

South Carolina award; probable, 

conservative; could be $30m 15,000,000                                         2023

FAA Grant ‐ due by end of March; 

amount unknown, conservative award 5,000,000                                           2024

Town of Hilton Head Island ?????? ??????

Additional ARPA Funding ?????? ??????

Additional Federal Funding ?????? ??????

40,000,000$                                     

28

Item 10.



 $‐

 $10,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $30,000,000

 $40,000,000

 $50,000,000

 $60,000,000

2022 2023 2024 2025

C
as
h
 N
ee
d
ed

 f
o
r 
C
o
n
st
ru
ct
io
n

Years of Construction

Cash needed for construction vs. Grants awarded/ possible

Grants awarded/ possible Cash need for construction

29

Item 10.



 BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Drug Free Community (DFC) Support Program Grant Notice 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance Committee- March 21, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Steve Donaldson 

10 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

The anticipated announcement of a Drug-Free Community Grant (Funding Opportunity 

Number: CDC-RFA-CE22-2205) led to the development of a coalition 6 months before 

(REQUIREMENT), which makes BCADAD eligible to apply.  

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

The DFC coalition would promote awareness, education, and youth empowerment. The grant 

would support youth led awareness campaigns in the schools; form a Youth Coalition with 

representatives from the schools—designing youth inspired campaigns around the substances 

to promote within the schools; create a youth inspired commercial or morning show that 

would air to fellow students, and increase health fair activities. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

Funding of $125,000 will obtain annually for five years and assist the Prevention Department 

with off-setting expenditures and increase programming.  The grant, if awarded, will not 

require matching funds from the County but will require in-kind committment from coalition 

partners. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Allow BCADAD to apply for CDC-RFA-CE22-2205  

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Motion to approve submittal of grant application for Drug Free Community Support Program 

or motion to disapprove submittal of grant application for Drug Free Community Support 

Program. 

 

 

30

Item 11.



 
 
 

 
 

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 
 

NATIONAL CENTER FOR INJURY PREVENTION AND CONTROL  
 

Drug-Free Communities (DFC) Support Program- NEW 
 

CDC-RFA-CE22-2205 
 

04/11/2022  

31

Item 11.



  Page 1 of 57 

Table of Contents 
A. Funding Opportunity Description ...............................................................................................4 

B. Award Information ....................................................................................................................17 

C. Eligibility Information ..............................................................................................................19 

D. Application and Submission Information .................................................................................26 

E. Review and Selection Process ...................................................................................................38 

F. Award Administration Information ...........................................................................................40 

G. Agency Contacts .......................................................................................................................47 

H. Other Information .....................................................................................................................48 

I. Glossary ......................................................................................................................................49 

 
 
Part I. Overview 
Applicants must go to the synopsis page of this announcement at www.grants.gov and click on 
the "Subscribe" button link to ensure they receive notifications of any changes to CDC-RFA-
CE22-2205.  Applicants also must provide an e-mail address to www.grants.gov to receive 
notifications of changes. 
A. Federal Agency Name: 
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) / Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease 
Registry (ATSDR) 
B. Notice of Funding Opportunity (NOFO) Title: 
Drug-Free Communities (DFC) Support Program- NEW 
C. Announcement Type: New - Type 1: 
This announcement is only for non-research activities supported by CDC. If research is 
proposed, the application will not be considered. For this purpose, research is defined 
at https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2007-title42-vol1/pdf/CFR-2007-title42-vol1-sec52-
2.pdf. Guidance on how CDC interprets the definition of research in the context of public health 
can be found at https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/regulations/45-cfr-
46/index.html (See section 45 CFR 46.102(d)). 

D. Agency Notice of Funding Opportunity Number: 
CDC-RFA-CE22-2205 
E. Assistance Listings Number: 
93.276 
F. Dates: 
1. Due Date for Letter of Intent (LOI): 
N/A 
2. Due Date for Applications:  

32

Item 11.

https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2007-title42-vol1/pdf/CFR-2007-title42-vol1-sec52-2.pdf
https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2007-title42-vol1/pdf/CFR-2007-title42-vol1-sec52-2.pdf
https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/regulations/45-cfr-46/index.html
https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/regulations/45-cfr-46/index.html


  Page 2 of 57 

04/11/2022  
11:59 p.m. U.S. Eastern Standard Time, at www.grants.gov. 

3. Due Date for Informational Conference Call: 
All applicants are strongly encouraged to attend the Drug-Free Communities - Applicant 
Workshop Webinar on February 24th, 2022, from 2:00pm – 3:30pm EST. Please register in 
advance using the following link: 
https://ww2.eventrebels.com/er/Registration/StepRegInfo.jsp?ActivityID=39794&StepNumber=
1 

G. Executive Summary: 
1. Summary Paragraph 
The Drug-Free Communities (DFC) Support Program was created by the Drug-Free 
Communities Act of 1997 (Public Law 105-20). The Executive Office of the President, Office of 
National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP), and the Department of Health and Human Services 
(HHS), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Center for Injury 
Prevention and Control (NCIPC) is accepting applications for Fiscal Year (FY) 2022 Drug-Free 
Communities (DFC) Support Program Grants. The purpose of the DFC Support Program is to 
fund applicants who have never received DFC funding to carry out the two goals of the 
program. In accordance with the DFC Act, the DFC Support Program has two goals:  

1. Establish and strengthen collaboration among communities, public and private non-profit 
agencies, as well as federal, state, local, and tribal governments to support the efforts of 
community coalitions working to prevent and reduce substance use among youth 
(individuals 18 years of age and younger). 

2. Reduce substance use among youth and, over time, reduce substance use among adults by 
addressing the factors in a community that increases the risk of substance use and 
promoting the factors that minimize the risk of substance use. 

a. Eligible Applicants: 
Open Competition 
b. Funding Instrument Type: 
G (Grant) 
c. Approximate Number of Awards 
50 
d. Total Period of Performance Funding: 
$31,250,000 
e. Average One Year Award Amount: 
$125,000 
f. Total Period of Performance Length: 
5 
g. Estimated Award Date: 
August 30, 2022 
h. Cost Sharing and / or Matching Requirements: 
Yes 

33

Item 11.

https://www.grants.gov/
https://ww2.eventrebels.com/er/Registration/StepRegInfo.jsp?ActivityID=39794&StepNumber=1
https://ww2.eventrebels.com/er/Registration/StepRegInfo.jsp?ActivityID=39794&StepNumber=1


  Page 3 of 57 

The DFC authorizing legislation requires recipients to demonstrate that they have non-federal 
matching funds (“match”) from non-federal sources equivalent to or greater than federal funds 
requested from the DFC Support Program. Applicants must itemize the match separately in the 
budget and explain the match in the Budget Narrative. CDC budget preparation guidelines can be 
found at https://www.cdc.gov/grants/documents/Budget-Preparation-Guidance.pdf. Applicants in 
Years 1-6 of the DFC funding are required to have 100 percent match (1:1) from non-federal 
sources. Beginning in Year Seven, the percentage increases. The below table indicates the 
percentage of match required for DFC grant recipients in each year of the grant. Cash or in-kind 
support may be used for the match requirement.  
 
Percentage of Match  

Year of Funding Request Matching Requirement 

1-6 100% 

7 - 8 125% 

9 - 10 150% 
Examples of ACCEPTABLE in-kind support/match include the following (not limited to) 

 The value of goods and services donated to the operation of the DFC coalition, including 
but not limited to office space, volunteer secretarial services, pro bono accounting 
services, and other volunteer services to support the coalition’s work. 

 Other volunteer services can include youth hours worked on events. 
 In-kind support can include training programs sponsored by other coalitions or partners 

for the community. 
 Coalitions that include a representative with expertise in the field of substance use from 

the Bureau of Indian Affairs, the Indian Health Service, or a tribal government agency 
and that are serving a tribal community can use additional federal funding as match. 

Examples of UNACCEPTABLE in-kind support/match include the following (not limited to): 

 Federal funds, including those passed through a state or local government, (e.g., CARA, 
STOP, etc.) 

All in-kind/match must follow federal cost principles (see Administrative and National Policy 
Requirements Section within the NOFO). In-kind/match support must align with allowable 
expenses under the DFC program. If an applicant has sufficient match to allow a budget request 
of the full required match amount, the applicant should round up the final budget figures to equal 
the required amount. A match level over the required amount will not result in a higher merit 
review score. All proposed match is an obligation on the part of the applicant. 
 
Based on the CDC Budget Preparation Guide, the applicant must provide a budget narrative for 
the non-federal match similar to the budget narrative for the federal request with the 
application. NOTE: As per both HHS/CDC and ONDCP guidelines, and applicable Anti-
Lobbying provisions, impermissible lobbying with federal dollars is not permitted. Additionally, 
such costs for impermissible lobbying cannot be used as match. 

34

Item 11.

https://www.cdc.gov/grants/documents/Budget-Preparation-Guidance.pdf


  Page 4 of 57 

Part II. Full Text 
A. Funding Opportunity Description 
1. Background 
a. Overview 
Substance use is a global public health issue affecting individuals, families, and communities. 
Provisional data indicate approximately 99,331 drug-overdose deaths occurred in the United 
States in the 12-months ending in February 2021, with these deaths being driven largely by 
fentanyl, synthetic opioids, cocaine, and methamphetamines. These changes represent a 
worsening of the drug overdose epidemic during the COVID-19 pandemic and the largest 
number of drug overdoses within a 12-month period. These data underline the need to implement 
primary prevention strategies designed to prevent substance use before it begins–for instance, by 
implementing programs, policies, and practices to prevent initiation of substance use among 
youth.   
 
Preventing the initiation of and use of substances among youth is critical because substance use 
during childhood and adolescence may increase the risk of overdose later in life. Substance use 
at a young age is associated with negative impacts on brain physiology, engagement in risky 
behaviors, and increased risk for harmful substance use. While youth substance use has declined 
over time, recent data from CDC’s Youth Risk Behavior Survey (YRBS) show that more than 
29% of high school students consumed alcohol, with almost 14% of high school students 
engaging in binge drinking. Tobacco use also remains common, with nearly 7 of every 100 
middle school students (6.7%) and about 24 of every 100 high school students (23.6%) reporting 
current use of a tobacco product, mainly driven by e-cigarette use. Approximately, 22% reported 
current marijuana use and 7% reported current prescription opioid use.   
 
Youth substance use patterns also differ among populations. Black and Hispanic youth are 
significantly more likely to use prescription drugs, cocaine, and methamphetamines, while non-
Hispanic White youth report higher rates of current alcohol use and binge drinking. Also, 
youth who identify their sexual orientation as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender queer 
questioning or are uncertain of their sexuality (LGBTQ+) report higher rates of substance 
use. Regardless of age, gender, race or ethnicity, income education, geographic location, 
disability, or sexual orientation, every person in every community across the nation deserves 
equal access to their best health.    
 
Social determinants of health (SDOH), or the conditions in which people live, work, learn, and 
play, can also contribute to health inequities and result in an intergenerational risk for substance 
use and overdose. The root causes and risk factors related to substance use include adverse 
childhood experiences (ACEs), lack of parental involvement, positive parental attitudes towards 
substance use behavior, family rejection of sexual orientation, lack of involvement in school, 
availability, and accessibility of substances, and community norms favorable to substance use.  
 
In contrast, protective factors can include youth engagement, parental involvement, social and 
emotional learning within the school setting, the availability of resources and after-school 
activities, and policies that limit the availability and accessibility to substances. The 
implementation of comprehensive strategies to address the individual, family, and community 
level risk and protective factors requires partnership across a broad array of organizations and 

35

Item 11.



  Page 5 of 57 

sectors within communities.  
 
This funding opportunity is designed to prevent and reduce substance use among youth into 
adulthood. 

b. Statutory Authorities 
Drug-Free Communities Act, 21 USC 1531 et seq.,P.L.105-20 

c. Healthy People 2030 
This NOFO addresses the proposed Healthy People 2030 focus areas of alcohol, 
tobacco, injury, violence prevention, and substance use. 

d. Other National Public Health Priorities and Strategies 
This NOFO supports the following public health priorities and strategies: 

 HHS Overdose Prevention Strategy (https://www.hhs.gov/overdose-prevention/)  
 The National Prevention Council’s National Prevention Strategy – America’s Plan for 

Better Health (Tobacco-Free Living) 
(https://ldh.la.gov/assets/docs/GovCouncil/MinHealth/NationalPreventionStrategyJune20
11.pdf)  

 The Office of National Drug Policy Priorities (https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-
content/uploads/2021/03/BidenHarris-Statement-of-Drug-Policy-Priorities-April-1.pdf) 

e. Relevant Work 
Drug-Free Communities (DFC) Support Program-New (CDC-RFA-CE21-2102)  
Drug-Free Communities (DFC) Support Program-Competing Continuation (CDC-RFA-CE20-
2004CC21)   
Office of National Drug Control Policy | The White House: https://www.whitehouse.gov/ondcp/ 

2. CDC Project Description 
a. Approach 

Bold indicates period of performance outcome. 

The establishment of a cohesive multi-sectoral community coalition can facilitate the effective 
implementation of evidence-based and practice-based youth substance use prevention 
strategies within a community.  Grant funds are specifically intended to support a comprehensive 
approach to address the youth substance use issues in communities and aims to fund coalitions 
with the capacity to maintain active sector membership and collaboration, assess the scope and 
nature of the problem, including the root causes and local conditions driving youth substance 
use, promote health equity, implement proven strategies, and monitor progress.  The community 
coalition must be 501(c)(3) organization, or the coalition can partner with an outside 
organization that is eligible to receive federal funds to serve as the Fiscal Agent on behalf of 
the coalition. 
 
The DFC Framework (Table 1) outlines a comprehensive approach with recommended strategies 
and activities based on the Seven Strategies for Community-Level Change (refer to the CDC 
Project Description: Strategies and Activities section for additional information) and identifies 
the intended short-term, immediate, and long-term outcomes for this NOFO.  

36

Item 11.

https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/browse-objectives/drug-and-alcohol-use
https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/browse-objectives/tobacco-use
https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/browse-objectives/injury-prevention
https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/browse-objectives/violence-prevention
https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/browse-objectives/drug-and-alcohol-use
https://www.hhs.gov/overdose-prevention/
https://ldh.la.gov/assets/docs/GovCouncil/MinHealth/NationalPreventionStrategyJune2011.pdf
https://ldh.la.gov/assets/docs/GovCouncil/MinHealth/NationalPreventionStrategyJune2011.pdf
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/BidenHarris-Statement-of-Drug-Policy-Priorities-April-1.pdf)
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/BidenHarris-Statement-of-Drug-Policy-Priorities-April-1.pdf)
https://www.whitehouse.gov/ondcp/


  Page 6 of 57 

 
Table 1: DFC Framework 

                              Drug-Free Communities (DFC) Framework 
                                               CDC RFA-CE22-2205 

Goal: Strengthen community coalitions and reduce/prevent youth substance use 

Strategies and Activities Short-Term 
Outcomes 

Intermediate 
Outcomes 

Long-Term 
Outcomes 

Provide information to the general 
public and key stakeholders about 
youth substance use. 
 
Enhance skills among relevant 
stakeholders so youth/adults can 
engage in positive social and 
decision-making capabilities. 
 
Provide support to increase 
opportunities that increase 
involvement in drug-free/healthy 
alternative activities. 
 
Enhance access, reduce barriers, 
and improve connections between 
systems and services that help 
prevent youth substance use. 
 
Change consequences to 
incentivize positive practices and 
disincentivize negative practices. 
 
Change physical design of the 
community to enhance protection 
against or to reduce the risk for 
youth substance use. 
 
Educate and inform about 
modifying/ changing policies that 
reduce access and availability to 
substances among youth. 

Improved knowledge 
regarding patterns of 
youth substance use. 
 
Improve knowledge 
of coalition efforts to 
address youth 
substance use in the 
community. 
 
Increase outreach to 
relevant sectors of the 
community to address 
youth substance use. 
 
Increase the capacity 
of local agencies 
and/or organizations 
to address youth 
substance use. 
 
Increase 
intergovernmental 
cooperation, 
coordination, and 
collaboration to 
change the conditions 
that impact youth 
substance use. 

Reduce factors in 
the community 
that increase the 
risk of substance 
use. 
 
Increase the 
promotion of 
factors that 
minimize the risk 
of substance use. 
 
Increase the ease, 
ability, and 
opportunity for 
youth to access 
settings, such as 
programs 
emphasizing self-
efficacy and 
learning skills 
that prevent 
substance use. 
 
Decrease the 
ease, ability, and 
opportunity for 
youth to access 
substances. 

Establish and 
strengthen 
collaboration 
among 
community 
stakeholders 
and 
organizations 
to address 
youth 
substance 
use. 
 
Reduce 
substance use 
among youth, 
and over 
time, reduce 
substance use 
among adults. 

i. Purpose 
The purpose of the DFC Support Program is to establish and strengthen collaborations to support 
the efforts of community coalitions working to prevent and reduce substance use among youth 

37

Item 11.



  Page 7 of 57 

by addressing the factors in a community that increase the risk of substance use and promote the 
factors that minimize the risk of substance use. 

ii. Outcomes 
A series of short-term, intermediate, and long-term outcomes are expected to be achieved as a 
result of recipient efforts (shown in Table 1 DFC Framework) by the end of the period of 
performance. The short-term, intermediate, and long-term outcomes should be tailored in the 
detailed performance measurement plan. 

iii. Strategies and Activities 
Applicants are expected to work with youth, community members, and leaders of their 
communities to identify, discuss, plan, and implement evidence-based and practice-based 
prevention strategies to reduce the use of at least two named substances that are selected using a 
community needs assessment or other local data and create sustainable community-level change. 
 
These strategies should seek to: (1) limit access to substances; (2) change the culture and context 
within which decisions about substance use are made; (3) shift the consequences associated with 
youth substance use and (4) address issues related to health disparities and promote health 
equity. Well-conceived strategies, activities, and policies at the local, state and national levels are 
powerful tools communities can reference and utilize to reduce youth substance use in their 
communities. Please see Appendix B: Evidence-Based Resources for more information. 
 
Applicants are expected to provide as part of their application, strategies and activities that are 
comprehensive and can be implemented during the period of performance (12-months) using the 
Seven Strategies for Community-Level Change. The seven strategies, described below, are 
included in the DFC Framework and include efforts that affect individuals as well as the entire 
community. 
 
Seven Strategies for Community-Level Change   
The Seven Strategies for Community-Level Change include efforts that affect individuals as well 
as an entire community and are described below. 
 
1. Provide information about youth substance use: educational presentations, workshops or 
seminars, and data or media presentations (e.g., Public Service Announcements (PSAs), 
brochures, town halls, forums, web communication, social media). 
 
2. Enhance skills so youth/adults and community members can build positive social skills and 
enhance their decision-making capabilities: Workshops, seminars, or activities designed to 
increase the skills of participants, members, and staff (e.g., training and technical assistance, 
parenting classes, strategic planning retreats, model programs in schools).  
 
3. Provide support to increase opportunities that reduce risk factors or enhance protective 
factors for youth/adults: Creating opportunities for participation in activities that reduce risk or 
enhance protection (e.g., alternative activities, mentoring, referrals for services, support groups, 
youth clubs).  
 
4. Enhance access, reduce barriers, and improve connections between systems and services 

38

Item 11.



  Page 8 of 57 

that help prevent youth substance use: Improving systems/processes to increase the ease, ability, 
and opportunity to utilize those systems and services (e.g., assuring transportation, housing, 
education, safety, recreational facilities, and cultural sensitivity) in prevention initiatives. 
 
5. Change consequences to incentivize positive practices and disincentivize negative 
practices: Increasing or decreasing the probability of a behavior (incentives/disincentives) by 
altering the consequences for performing that behavior (e.g., recognition programs for merchants 
who pass compliance checks; publicizing businesses non-compliant with local ordinances). 
 
6. Change the physical design of the community to reduce the risk for and enhance protection 
against youth substance use: Changing the physical design of the environment to reduce risk or 
enhance protection (e.g., re-routing foot/car traffic, adjusting park hours, alcohol/tobacco outlet 
density). NOTE: DFC federal funds cannot support landscape and lighting projects, or 
construction projects. As such, costs for these projects cannot be used as a match. 
 
7. Educating and informing about modifying or changing policies that reduce access and 
availability to substances among youth: Change in written procedures, by-laws, proclamations, 
rules, or laws, to the extent applicable law and policies allow (e.g., workplace initiatives, law 
enforcement procedures, and practices, public policy actions, systems change). 
 
For more information on the Seven Strategies for Community Change, 
visit http://www.cadca.org/resources/coalition-impact-environmental-prevention-strategies.   
 
To help inform the strategies and activities, recipients are encouraged to use the Strategic 
Prevention Framework found at https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/20190620-samhsa-
strategic-prevention-framework-guide.pdf  for assessment, planning, and decision-making. 
Cultural competence and sustainability should be considered throughout all five steps of the 
process. 
 
In addition, recipients are encouraged to use the National Coalition Institute’s (NCI) coalition 
logic model to identify root causes and local conditions to address youth substance use. The 
results of that analysis are used to determine the strategies and activities that will be 
implemented in this grant to support the outcomes identified in the DFC Framework.  For more 
information on the CADCA's coalition logic model, 
visit  https://www.cadca.org/sites/default/files/cadca_logic_model.pptx. Submission of a 
coalition’s logic model is not required. 

1. Collaborations 

a. With other CDC projects and CDC-funded organizations: 

Recipients are encouraged to, where applicable and appropriate, collaborate with CDC programs 
that are implementing evidence-based and practice-based prevention strategies that align with the 
strategies identified in the Strategies and Activities Section of this NOFO. Memoranda of 
Understanding (MOUs) or Memoranda of Agreement (MOAs) are not required. Examples 
of relevant CDC programs include, but are not limited to: 

 Overdose Data to Action (OD2A) https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/od2a/index.html 

39

Item 11.

http://www.cadca.org/resources/coalition-impact-environmental-prevention-strategies
https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/20190620-samhsa-strategic-prevention-framework-guide.pdf
https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/20190620-samhsa-strategic-prevention-framework-guide.pdf
https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/20190620-samhsa-strategic-prevention-framework-guide.pdf
https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/20190620-samhsa-strategic-prevention-framework-guide.pdf
https://www.cadca.org/sites/default/files/cadca_logic_model.pptx
https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/od2a/index.html


  Page 9 of 57 

 Opioid Response Strategy (ORS), High-Intensity Drug Trafficking Areas (HIDTA) 
Program   https://www.hidta.org/ors/ 

 Division of Adolescent and School 
Health  https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/partners/index.htm 

 Suicide Prevention, Division of Violence 
Prevention  https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/suicide/index.html 

 Office of Smoking and Health https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/about/osh/ 
 Office of Tribal Affairs and Strategic Alliances  https://www.cdc.gov/tribal/tribes-

organizations-health/index.html 
 Good Health and Wellness in Indian Country 

CDC https://www.cdc.gov/healthytribes/ghwic.htm 
 Division of Violence Prevention (DVP) Youth Violence Prevention 

Centers https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/  

b. With organizations not funded by CDC: 
Recipients receiving DFC funds are expected to collaborate with other organizations and leaders 
that have a role in conducting the proposed activities and achieving the project outcomes.  In 
addition to the sectors represented on the coalition, collaborations can include federal, national, 
state, local, and tribal organizations that can assist in identifying and addressing local youth 
substance use problems and help create sustainable community-level change through the 
implementation of evidence-based and practice-based prevention strategies. Memorandums of 
Understanding (MOUs) or Memorandums of Agreement (MOAs) are not required. 

2. Target Populations 
Applicants are expected to define the communities they propose to serve, using various 
geographic boundaries including neighborhoods, census tracts, zip codes, and school districts, as 
well as townships, counties, or parish lines, among others defining properties.  Applicants 
should carefully consider the size and population of the area in which the coalition is 
established so they will have the ability to affect change. For example, choosing a community 
that is too large may be problematic due to the inclusion of multiple neighborhoods that have 
distinct problems or conditions that need to be addressed to affect change.   
 
Applicants must also include the rationale for the selection of their chosen community and 
describe how their selection will help to achieve the program purpose of preventing and reducing 
substance use among youth. 

a. Health Disparities 
CDC is committed to addressing health inequities and to ensuring health equity, which is 
achieved when every person has the opportunity to live a healthy life.  Health disparities are 
differences in health outcomes and their causes among groups. Health inequities can contribute 
to increased overdose deaths and other negative health outcomes, especially among groups that 
have been marginalized. Reducing health disparities and improving the social determinants of 
health among populations at greatest risk brings us closer to health equity.    
 
Applicants should focus efforts on youth (i.e.,18 years of age or younger), with an emphasis on 
promoting health equity, reducing disparities that impact youth substance use, and addressing 
the risk and protective factors that negatively impact health outcomes in communities.  

40

Item 11.

https://www.hidta.org/ors/
https://ahidta.org/content/overdose-response-strategy
https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/partners/index.htm
https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/suicide/index.html
https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/about/osh/
file:///C:/Users/qmj7/Downloads/�
https://www.cdc.gov/tribal/tribes-organizations-health/index.html
https://www.cdc.gov/tribal/tribes-organizations-health/index.html
https://www.cdc.gov/healthytribes/ghwic.htm
https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/


  Page 10 of 57 

 
Applicants are encouraged to pay particular attention to communities or populations 
disproportionately affected by substance use. Those communities include but are not limited to 
those with reduced economic stability; limited education attainment, access or quality; limited 
healthcare access or quality; non-English populations; tribal populations; rural communities; 
geographically underserved areas; racial/ethnic minority groups; and sexual/gender minority 
groups.    

iv. Funding Strategy 
All DFC applications will be jointly screened by ONDCP and CDC to determine whether an 
applicant meets all the DFC Support Program Statutory Eligibility Requirements identified 
in Table 3. DFC Statutory Eligibility Requirements. Applications submitted by eligible coalitions 
that demonstrate they meet all requirements will then be scored through a merit review process 
according to the evaluation criteria described in Section E. Review and Selection Process of this 
NOFO. Each year, DFC recipients must demonstrate compliance with all the Statutory Eligibility 
Requirements to be considered for continuation funding. See Appendix A. Review and 
Selection Process for additional information. 

b. Evaluation and Performance Measurement 

i. CDC Evaluation and Performance Measurement Strategy  

Evaluation and Performance Measurement are tools used to highlight program accomplishments; 
monitor the implementation and demonstrate the effectiveness of NOFO strategies and 
activities; build an evidence base for program strategies; clarify the applicability of the evidence 
base to different populations, settings, and contexts; and drive continuous program 
improvement.   
 
The DFC National Cross-Site Evaluation is intended to measure the effectiveness of the DFC 
Support Program in achieving its goals of increasing collaboration and reducing/preventing 
youth substance use. The collection of key data is a critical component of this award. 
 
DFC recipients are required to participate in the DFC National Cross-Site Evaluation, which 
includes providing data every two years on core measures for alcohol, tobacco, marijuana, and 
prescription drug use in three grades (6th-12th). It is recommended to include at least one grade at 
the middle school level and one grade at the high school level.   
 
Data will be collected for the following measures: 

 Past 30-Day Use The percentage of survey respondents who reported using alcohol, 
tobacco, or marijuana (prevalence of use) or misusing prescription drugs at least once 
within the past 30 days (prevalence of misuse).   

 Perception of Risk: The percentage of survey respondents who perceived that the use of 
a given substance has moderate risk or great risk.   

 Perception of Parental Disapproval: The percentage of survey respondents 
who perceived their parents would feel that regular use of alcohol (one or two drinks 
nearly every day), or engaging in any use of tobacco, marijuana, or misuse of prescription 
drugs is wrong or very wrong.   

41

Item 11.



  Page 11 of 57 

 Perception of Peer Disapproval: The percentage of survey respondents who perceived 
their friends would feel it would be wrong or very wrong for them to drink alcohol 
regularly (one or two drinks nearly every day), or engage in any use of tobacco, 
marijuana, or misuse of prescription drugs.  

It will be the responsibility of the recipient to know the National Cross-Site Evaluation reporting 
schedule (every 2 years for the substances named in the respective grade levels). Failure to 
submit the core measures means the recipient is out of compliance with Award Terms and 
Conditions.  
 
In addition, recipients will be required to submit semi-annual progress reports that outline the 
community profile, sector and youth engagement, coalition capacity, risk, and protective factors, 
and implementation of youth substance use prevention strategies.  Recipients should also identify 
and monitor measures of short-term, intermediate, and long-term outcomes, which can serve as 
benchmarks for measuring programmatic progress and impact.  
 
CDC requires recipients for projects that involve the collection or generation of data with federal 
funds to develop, submit and comply with a Data Management Plan (DMP) for each collection 
or generation of public health data undertaken as part of the award and, to the extent appropriate, 
provide access to, and archiving/long-term preservation of, collected or generated data. These 
reports are due within the first six months of the award.  For more information about CDC’s 
policy on the DMP, see Additional Requirement – 25 | Grants | CDC 
 
Applicants are not required at the time of application to be in compliance with the DFC 
National Cross-Site Evaluation’s Requirements nor the DMP requirement; however, recipients 
will be required to comply with the evaluation requirements once awarded. This 
includes submitting any survey(s) used to collect core measure data for review and approval 
through the DFC Me system; and submitting the core measure data in specified increments 
(every 2 years) for the substances named in the respective grade levels.        

ii. Applicant Evaluation and Performance Measurement Plan 
Applicants must provide an evaluation and performance measurement plan that demonstrates 
how the recipient will fulfill the requirements described in the CDC Evaluation and Performance 
Measurement and Project Description sections of this NOFO. At a minimum, the plan must 
describe: 

 How the applicant will collect the performance measures, respond to the evaluation 
questions, and use evaluation findings for continuous program quality improvement.  

 How key program partners will participate in the evaluation and performance 
measurement planning processes. 

 Available data sources, feasibility of collecting appropriate evaluation and performance 
data, and other relevant data information (e.g., performance measures proposed by the 
applicant)  

 Plans for updating the Data Management Plan (DMP) as new pertinent information 
becomes available.  If applicable, throughout the lifecycle of the project.  Updates to 
DMP should be provided in annual progress reports.  The DMP should provide a 

42

Item 11.

https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-requirements/ar-25.html


  Page 12 of 57 

description of the data that will be produced using these NOFO funds; access to data; 
data standards ensuring released data have documentation describing methods of 
collection, what the data represent, and data limitations; and archival and long-term data 
preservation plans.  For more information about CDC’s policy on the DMP, 
see https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-requirements/ar-25.html. 

Where the applicant chooses to, or is expected to, take on specific evaluation studies, the 
applicant should be directed to: 

 Describe the type of evaluations (i.e., process, outcome, or both).  

 Describe key evaluation questions to be addressed by these evaluations.  

 Describe other information (e.g., measures, data sources). 

Recipients will be required to submit a more detailed Evaluation and Performance Measurement 
plan, including a DMP, if applicable, within the first 6 months of award, as described in the 
Reporting Section of this NOFO. 

Additional information on reporting requirements is described in the Reporting Section of the 
NOFO and will be specified in the Terms and Conditions of award. Award recipients will receive 
additional training, evaluation technical assistance and ongoing evaluation guidance on recipient-
level evaluation and performance measures, including requirements for the evaluation plan and 
reporting. Applicants may contact the current DFC Evaluation Team 
(DFC_Evaluators@ICFI.com) for assistance in gathering the necessary information as it relates 
to the DFC National Cross-Site Evaluation. 

c. Organizational Capacity of Recipients to Implement the Approach 
Applicants must demonstrate the organizational capacity to manage and implement the grant. 
This includes 1) organizational structure, 2) key personnel, and 3) the community coalition 
described below. 
 
1) Organizational Structure 
The applicant must describe the organizational structure of the recipient organization and how it 
will support the implementation of the grant.  The organization must have the capacity to 
complete and submit reports, provide fiscal oversight of federal grant funds, and provide 
adequate communication.  If the applicant is serving as a fiscal agent on behalf of a coalition, 
indicate that in this section and provide a memorandum of understanding describing the 
relationship between the fiscal agent and the community coalition.  If the coalition is applying on 
its own behalf as a 501(c)(3), indicate that in this section.   
 
2) Key Personnel 
At a minimum, the following key personnel are required: 

 Authorized Organization Representative (AOR): The AOR is the representative of the 
applicant/recipient organization with authority to act on the organization’s behalf in 
matters related to the award and administration of grants. In signing a grant application, 
this individual agrees that the organization will assume the obligations imposed by 
applicable Federal statutes and regulations and other terms and conditions of the award, 
including any assurances, if a grant is awarded. These responsibilities include overseeing 

43

Item 11.

https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-requirements/ar-25.html
mailto:DFC_Evaluators@ICFI.com


  Page 13 of 57 

the financial aspects of the grant and the performance of the grant-supported project or 
activities as specified in the approved application This person must be an employee of 
the recipient organization.   

 Program Director/Principal Investigator (PD/PI): The PD/PI is the person who provides 
programmatic oversight of the grant and is accountable to officials of the recipient 
organization.  The PD/PI must be an employee of the recipient organization and 
cannot be the same person as the AOR. 

 Project Coordinator: The Project Coordinator manages the work of the coalition and 
program activities, including training, coalition communication, data collection, and 
information dissemination. The PD/PI and the Project Coordinator can be the same 
person.       

Staff selected to fulfill key personnel positions should have skills in non-research program 
administration: program planning and implementation, program evaluation, performance 
monitoring, financial management and reporting, budget management and administration, 
personnel management, or project management. To demonstrate proficiency in these topic areas, 
applicants must submit resumes for positions currently filled (no more than 2 pages in length) 
and position descriptions for vacant positions (no more than 1 page in length) for key personnel 
outlined above. Resumes should be combined into one pdf with the title: Key Personnel 
Resumes.  
For key personnel positions that are not filled, applicants can provide the position description, 
which should include:  
1. Title of key personnel position; 
2. Brief description of duties and responsibilities; and  
3. 1-2 sentences on how the applicant plans to fill the position, including the expected 
timeframe.  
 
NOTE: Regarding financial management, applicants are required to demonstrate that 
they have a primary party that is responsible for overseeing the financial aspects of the grant (e.g. 
bookkeeping or accounting services) and a financial management system that will allow for 
proper funds management and segregation of funds by program and meet the requirements as 
stated in the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
HHS Awards found at https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-45/subtitle-A/subchapter-A/part-75(45 
CFR 75.302). 
 
The financial system should permit the preparation of reports required by general and program-
specific terms and conditions; and the tracing of funds to a level of expenditure adequate to 
establish that such funds have been used according to the federal statutes, regulations, and the 
terms and conditions of the federal award. 
 
3) Community Coalition 
The applicant is required to describe the role of the community coalition in this section. For the 
purposes of this program, a community coalition is defined as a community-based formal 
arrangement for cooperation and collaboration among 12 required sectors of a community in 
which each group retains its identity, but all agree to work together toward a common goal. 
 Required sectors include: 
1. Youth: An individual 18 years of age or younger (must provide age of youth) in a public, 

44

Item 11.

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-45/subtitle-A/subchapter-A/part-75


  Page 14 of 57 

private, homeschooled, or alternative school.  
2. Parent: An individual legally responsible for a child, grandchild, or foster child.  
3. Business: A representative of a business-related organization that provides services that are 
not in conflict with the goals and objectives of the DFC program. 
4. Media: A representative of a communication outlet that provides information to the 
community. Through an appropriate media platform, this representative should be capable of 
communicating and disseminating information that furthers the coalition’s mission (e.g., print, 
electronic, or social media). 
5. School: A representative of the school system with influence in school policies and 
procedures.  
6. Youth-serving organization: A representative of an organization that provides services to 
support youth. 
7. Religious/Fraternal organization: A representative of a faith-based organization or 
representative from a fraternal organization that is based on a common tie or pursuit of a 
common goal. The organization must have a substantial program of fraternal activities.   
8. Law enforcement: A representative of a law enforcement agency. The representative must be 
an active sworn, law enforcement officer, not retired.  
9. Civic/Volunteer groups: A representative of an organization that provides civic or volunteer 
activities that serves the community (not a coalition member).  Examples include Lions Clubs, 
Rotary Clubs, etc.  
10. Healthcare professional or organization: An individual and/or organization licensed to 
provide physical, mental, or behavioral healthcare services (i.e., pediatrician, CEOs, pharmacist, 
etc.).  
11. State, local, or tribal governmental agency with expertise in the field of substance 
use: A representative of a government-funded agency with a focus on substance use prevention, 
treatment, or recovery support services.  
12. Other organizations involved in reducing substance use: A representative of a community 
organization that addresses substance use.  

Responsibilities of the coalition should include: formulate coalition goals and objectives; oversee 
operations of activities and programs; develop and carry out the 12-month action plan; create a 
credible and relevant sustainability plan; and retain and recruit members, in particular youth 
sector representatives. Coalitions should demonstrate substantial participation from volunteer 
leaders in the community who have worked together on substance use reduction initiatives. 

Responsibilities of sector representatives can include, but are not limited to:  

 Being a community leader amongst the represented sector and acting as a positive role 
model for youth, families, and peers.  

 Attending coalition meetings, participating on committees, and engaging in coalition-
sponsored training, town hall meetings, and other community events.  

 Ensuring clear communication between the sector represented and the coalition.  
 Contributing to the strategic action planning process and participating in sustaining the 

coalition’s capacity, involvement, and goals.  
 Promoting evidence-based and practiced-based environmental strategies.  
 Using his/her activities as match, if applicable. 

d. Work Plan 

45

Item 11.



  Page 15 of 57 

Applicants are required to provide a detailed work plan (12-Month Action Plan) for the current 
performance period (2022-2023). The action plan should demonstrate a comprehensive approach 
to the reduction of the use of at least two substances and create sustainable community-level 
change. 

Applicants should develop the 12-month action plan following the template provided (in Table 
2: Detailed Work Plan (12-Month Action Plan)) and ensure the action plan: 

 Outlines the specific objectives, strategies, and activities that are in alignment with the 
DFC goals, including who is responsible and the anticipated timeframe.  

 Addresses at least two named substances that are selected based on a community needs 
assessment or other local data. Note: Vaping is not a substance, it is a substance delivery 
method. The selection of these substances should include a rationale based on data such 
as school suspension rates, school suspensions, juvenile court data, emergency room data, 
or other applicable data. Strategies and activities should be specific to the selected 
substances. 

 Includes activities that address risk and protective factors, including root causes that may 
be driving substance use in the community (e.g. ACEs, mental health, health disparities). 

 Uses existing frameworks, such as the SPF and Seven Strategies for Community-Level 
Change. 

 Includes objectives that are specific, measurable, achievable, realistic, and time-bound 
(SMART). 

 
Examples of SMART objectives 

Regular Objective SMART Objective  

Reduce substance use 
rates for adolescents. 

By July 31, 2023, reduce the percent of 9th graders in 
Random County who have used (specific substance) from 
8% baseline to 7% as indicated in our annual youth survey. 

Meet with 12 high 
schools to inform them 
about drug drop box 
programs. 

Public Health Staff will meet with key stakeholders at all 
high schools in our jurisdiction resulting in 3 out of 4 high 
schools committing to work on educating about and 
implementing drug drop box programs by June 2023 as 
indicated in our annual school partner survey.  

 
Table 2: Detailed Work Plan (12-Month Action Plan) 
DFC Goal One: Establish and strengthen collaboration among community stakeholders 
and organizations to address youth substance use.    
 
Objective 1: Provide a SMART objective  
Strategy 1: Provide specific strategy 

Activity Who is Responsible? By When? 

46

Item 11.



  Page 16 of 57 

         

         

 
Strategy 2: Provide specific strategy 

Activity Who is Responsible? By When? 

         

         

 
DFC Goal Two: Reduce substance use among youth and, over time, reduce substance 
use among adults by addressing the factors in a community that increases the risk of 
substance use and promoting the factors that minimize the risk of substance use.   
 
Objective 2: Provide a SMART objective  
Strategy 1: Provide specific strategy  

Activity Who is Responsible? By When? 

         

         

 
Strategy 2: Provide specific strategy  

Activity  Who is Responsible?  By When?  

         

         

 
Applicants are also required to provide a general summary (up to one paragraph) of what they 
aim to achieve at the end of the 5 years and how the objectives and strategies outlined in the 12-
month action plan will help contribute to the long-term outcomes to foster sustainable, 
community-level change. 

Recipients will have the flexibility to modify and finalize the work plan post-award and 
following the completion of the National Coalition Academy (NCA) as described in the section 
below. 

e. CDC Monitoring and Accountability Approach 
Monitoring activities include routine and ongoing communication between CDC and recipients, 
site visits, and recipient reporting (including work plans, performance, and financial reporting). 
Consistent with applicable grants regulations and policies, CDC expects the following to be 
included in post-award monitoring for grants and cooperative agreements: 

47

Item 11.



  Page 17 of 57 

 Tracking recipient progress in achieving the desired outcomes. 

 Ensuring the adequacy of recipient systems that underlie and generate data reports. 

 Creating an environment that fosters integrity in program performance and results. 

Monitoring may also include the following activities deemed necessary to monitor the award: 

 Ensuring that work plans are feasible based on the budget and consistent with the intent 
of the award. 

 Ensuring that recipients are performing at a sufficient level to achieve outcomes 
within stated timeframes. 

 Working with recipients on adjusting the work plan based on achievement of 
outcomes, evaluation results and changing budgets. 

 Monitoring performance measures (both programmatic and financial) to assure 
satisfactory performance levels. 

Monitoring and reporting activities that assist grants management staff (e.g., grants management 
officers and specialists, and project officers) in the identification, notification, and management 
of high-risk recipients. 

Attending required trainings and conferences is critical for building and maintaining the skills of 
the staff with responsibility for carrying out the requirements of this NOFO. This NOFO requires 
attendance at specific trainings and conferences as a term and conditions of this award. Specific 
meeting dates and guidance related to travel will be provided at a later date. Listed below are the 
Required Trainings for newly funded recipients:  

 New Recipient Virtual Training: The New Recipient Virtual Training offered by the 
Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP) in collaboration with CDC’s National 
Center for Injury Prevention and Control (NCIPC) and the Office of Grant Services 
(OGS). The Program Director/Principal Investigator (PD/PI), Project Coordinator, and 
the Authorized Organization Representative (AOR) must participate in all the training 
sessions. Training dates and topics will be shared within 90 days post award.  

 National Coalition Academy: The National Coalition Academy (NCA) is a 
comprehensive training program developed by CADCA’s National Coalition Institute 
and teaches leaders “what they need to know” (the core competencies) and “what their 
team needs to do” (the essential processes) to establish or maintain a highly effective 
anti-drug coalition. All Year 1 DFC Recipients are required to attend and complete the 
NCA during their first year of funding. Year 6 DFC Recipients are recommended to 
attend, especially if there is change in staff, but attendance is not required.    

At the end of the NCA, recipients will have the opportunity to work with staff to develop and 
finalize a community assessment, logic model, strategic and action plan, evaluation plan, and 
sustainability plan. 

B. Award Information 
1. Funding Instrument Type: 
G (Grant) 

48

Item 11.



  Page 18 of 57 

 
2. Award Mechanism:  
HD4 
 
3. Fiscal Year: 
2022 
4. Approximate Total Fiscal Year Funding: 
$6,250,000 
 
5. Total Period of Performance Funding: 
$31,250,000 
This amount is subject to the availability of funds. 

Estimated Total Funding: 
$31,250,000 
6. Total Period of Performance Length: 
5 
year(s) 
7. Expected Number of Awards: 
50 
8. Approximate Average Award: 
 
$125,000 
Per Budget Period 

9. Award Ceiling: 
$125,000 
Per Budget Period 

This amount is subject to the availability of funds. 

10. Award Floor: 
$0 
Per Budget Period 

11. Estimated Award Date: 
August 30, 2022 
 
12. Budget Period Length: 
12 month(s) 

Throughout the project period, CDC will continue the award based on the availability of funds, 
the evidence of satisfactory progress by the recipient (as documented in required reports), and 
the determination that continued funding is in the best interest of the federal government. The 
total number of years for which federal support has been approved (project period) will be shown 

49

Item 11.



  Page 19 of 57 

in the “Notice of Award.” This information does not constitute a commitment by the federal 
government to fund the entire period. The total period of performance comprises the initial 
competitive segment and any subsequent non-competitive continuation award(s). 

 
13. Direct Assistance 
Direct Assistance (DA) is not available through this NOFO. 

If you are successful and receive a Notice of Award, in accepting the award, you agree that the 
award and any activities thereunder are subject to all provisions of 45 CFR part 75, currently in 
effect or implemented during the period of the award, other Department regulations and policies 
in effect at the time of the award, and applicable statutory provisions. 

C. Eligibility Information 
1. Eligible Applicants 
Eligibility Category: 
12 (Nonprofits having a 501(c)(3) status with the IRS, other than institutions of higher 
education) 

00 (State governments) 

01 (County governments) 

99 (Unrestricted (i.e., open to any type of entity above), subject to any clarification in text field 
entitled "Additional Information on Eligibility") 

02 (City or township governments) 

04 (Special district governments) 

05 (Independent school districts) 

20 (Private institutions of higher education) 

06 (Public and State controlled institutions of higher education) 

07 (Native American tribal governments (Federally recognized)) 

11 (Native American tribal organizations (other than Federally recognized tribal governments)) 

25 (Others (see text field entitled "Additional Information on Eligibility" for clarification)) 

13 (Nonprofits without 501(c)(3) status with the IRS, other than institutions of higher education) 

Additional Eligibility Category:  

Government Organizations: 

State governments or their bona fide agents (includes the District of Columbia) 

Local governments or their bona fide agents 

Territorial governments or their bona fide agents in the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the 
Virgin Islands, the Commonwealth of the Northern Marianna Islands, American Samoa, Guam, 

50

Item 11.



  Page 20 of 57 

the Federated States of Micronesia, the Republic of the Marshall Islands, and the Republic of 
Palau 

State controlled institutions of higher education 

American Indian or Alaska Native tribal governments (federally recognized or state-recognized) 

Non-government Organizations 

American Indian or Alaska native tribally designated organizations 

2. Additional Information on Eligibility 
Eligible applicants are community-based coalitions addressing youth substance use that have not 
yet previously received a DFC grant.  A DFC legal applicant must reside within the United 
States and/or the U.S. territories.  
 
Statutory Eligibility Requirements, written into the DFC Act, are inherent in the language of the 
DFC Support Program. Applicants should refer to Table 3: DFC Statutory Eligibility 
Requirements, which contains a summary of the requirements, the evidence required, and where 
to place it in the application. Failure to meet any single statutory eligibility requirement will 
cause the application to be deemed ineligible; in such case, it will not move forward to 
merit review.  The final authority lies with the DFC Administrator to determine the eligibility of 
an application.  
 
Should your application fail to meet the statutory eligibility requirements, the person listed as the 
Authorized Representative on the Application for Federal Assistance (SF-424) will receive a 
notification stating why the application was deemed ineligible. Additional information may not 
be added to an application after the application deadline. It is the responsibility of the 
applicant to submit a complete application prior to the application deadline. 
 
All forms, with the exception of the IRS form proving 501(c)(3) status, that demonstrate 
statutory eligibility must be dated between January 2021 and the deadline for submission 
of this application. All forms that require signatures must be signed and dated or the 
application will be screened out and not move forward to merit review. Handwritten and/or 
electronic signatures are acceptable.   

Eligibility Requirement Item Evidence Required and Where to 
Document 

Requirement 1: 12 Sectors   

The coalition must consist of one or more representatives 
from each of the following required 12 sectors: 
1. Youth 
2. Parent 
3. Business 
4. Media 
5. School 
6. Youth-serving organization 

Evidence Required: The Sector 
Table and 12 Coalition 
Involvement Agreements that 
includes each of the 12 required 
sectors of a community as outlined 
in the DFC Act. See Appendix C. 
Sample Coalition Involvement 
Agreement.   

51

Item 11.



  Page 21 of 57 

7. Law enforcement 
8. Religious/Fraternal organization 
9. Civic/Volunteer groups (i.e., local organizations 
committed to volunteering, not a coalition member 
designated as a "volunteer")  
10. Healthcare professional or organization (i.e., primary 
care, hospitals, etc.)  
11. State, local, or tribal governmental agency with 
expertise in the field of substance use (including, if 
applicable, the state agency with primary authority for 
substance use)  
12. Other organizations involved in reducing substance 
use  
21 USC 1532(a)(2)(A)    
An individual who is a member of the coalition may 
serve on the coalition as a representative of not more 
than one sector category.     
21 USC 1532(a)(2)(C)    

 
Where to Document:      

 Attachment 1: Sector 
Table and 12 Coalition 
Involvement 
Agreements (CIAs) 

Coalition members can 
not represent more than one sector 
category and paid staff (i.e., 
Program Director/Principal 
Investigator (PD/PI) and Project 
Coordinator) cannot serve as sector 
representatives. Doing so 
will deem an application ineligible. 

Requirement 2: Six Month Existence   

The coalition must demonstrate that members have 
worked together on substance use reduction initiatives 
for a period of not less than 6 months at the time of 
submission of the application, acting through entities 
such as task forces, subcommittees, or community 
boards. 21 USC 1532(a)(3)(A) 
The coalition must also demonstrate substantial 
participation from volunteer leaders in the 
community.  21 USC 1532(a)(3)(B) 

Evidence Required: The date that 
the coalition was established and 
one set of meeting minutes. 
 
Where to Document:      

 Attachment 4: General 
Applicant Information, 
Question #6  

 Upload: One set of 
coalition meeting minutes 
from one meeting that took 
place between January 2021 
and the deadline for 
submission of this 
application. 

Meeting minutes must: include the 
date of meeting, names of 
attendees, and sector represented. 

Requirement 3: Mission Statement   

The coalition must have as its principal mission the 
reduction of youth substance use, which, at a minimum, 
includes the use and abuse of drugs in a comprehensive 
and long-term manner, with a primary focus on youth in 
the community. The mission must be clearly defined in 

Evidence Required: A coalition 
mission statement that addresses 
youth substance use prevention. 
 
Where to Document:      

52

Item 11.



  Page 22 of 57 

the project narrative.   
21 USC 1532(a)(4)(A) 

 Attachment 4: General 
Applicant Information, 
Question #4  

 Project Narrative 

Requirement 4: Multiple Drugs Of Use   

The coalition must have developed a 12-Month Action 
Plan to reduce substance use among youth 
which targets multiple drugs of use. 
Substances may include but are not limited to, narcotics, 
depressants, stimulants, hallucinogens, inhalants, 
marijuana, alcohol, and tobacco, where youth use is 
prohibited by federal, state, or local law.   
21 USC 1532(a)(4)(D) 

Evidence Required: The coalition 
has included at least two drugs of 
use for the coalition to address in 
the 12-month action plan.    
 
Where to Document:     

 Attachment 4: General 
Applicant Information, 
Question #5 

 Project Narrative: 12-
Month Action Plan   

Requirement 5: Evaluation And Performance 
Measurement Plan   

The coalition must establish a system to measure and 
report outcomes, established and approved by the DFC 
Administrator, to the federal government.     
21 USC 1532(a)(6)(A)  
Applicants are not required at the time of application 
to be in compliance with the DFC National Cross-Site 
Evaluation’s Requirements.     
If awarded a grant, the coalition will have two years 
from the time of award to report its first complete set of 
core measure data.   

Evidence Required: An evaluation 
and performance measurement plan 
that outlines how the applicant will 
collect and report the DFC 
Program’s required measures: (1) 
substance use in the past 30 days; 
(2) perception of risk; (3) 
perception of peer substance use; 
and (4) perception of disapproval 
of use by parents.  
  
Where to Document:      

 Project Narrative: 
Evaluation and Performance 
Section  

Requirement 6: Entity Eligible To Receive Federal 
Grants   

The applicant must demonstrate that the coalition is an 
ongoing concern by demonstrating that the coalition is a 
non-profit organization or has made arrangements with a 
legal entity that is eligible to receive federal grants.   
21 USC 1532(a)(5)(A) 

Evidence Required: Statement of 
Legal Eligibility AND either a 
copy of the letter from the IRS 
indicating 501(c)(3) status OR an 
MOU between the coalition and 

53

Item 11.



  Page 23 of 57 

Organizations eligible to receive federal funds as DFC 
grant recipients must be legally recognized domestic 
public or private nonprofit entities.   
 
  

fiscal agent. 
 
If the coalition is not serving as its 
own legal applicant, the coalition 
must enter into a partnership with 
an entity eligible to receive federal 
funds and submit a Memorandum 
of Understanding.  See Appendix 
D. Sample MOU between Fiscal 
Agent and Coalition.  
 
Where to Document:     

 Attachment 3: Statement 
of Legal Eligibility, to 
include:  

o Upload: IRS letter 
indicating proof of 
501(c)(3) status; or 

o Upload: MOU 
between fiscal agent 
and coalition. 

Requirement 7: Substantial Support From Non-
Federal Sources   

The coalition must have a strategy to solicit substantial 
financial support from non-federal sources to ensure that 
the coalition is self-sustaining.   
21 USC 1532(a)(5)(B)(C) 

Evidence Required: Budget 
narrative which describes 100% 
matching funds.  
 
 Where to Document:      

 Budget Narrative   
 SF-424, SF-424A   

Requirement 8: Federal Request   

The applicant must not request more than $125,000 in 
federal funds per year. 21 USC 1532 (b)(1)(A)(iv) 

Evidence Required: A budget that 
does not request more than 
$125,000/year.  
 
Where to Document:      

 Budget Narrative   
 SF-424A, SF-424A   

Requirement 9: Zip Code Overlap   

54

Item 11.



  Page 24 of 57 

Two DFC-funded coalitions may not serve the same zip 
code(s) unless both coalitions have clearly described 
their plan for collaboration in their application and each 
coalition has independently met the eligibility 
requirements.   
21 U.S.C. 1532(b)(1)(B)(i); §1032(b)(2)(C)(ii)  

Evidence Required: If the 
applicant coalition is proposing to 
serve zip codes that overlap with an 
existing DFC coalition’s zip code 
or with a coalition applying for a 
DFC grant, the applicant must 
provide a Letter(s) of Mutual 
Cooperation between the coalitions 
outlining their efforts to 
collaborate. There is no template 
for this letter. However, the letter 
must indicate the zip code(s) that 
overlap and discuss the plan for 
collaboration. If no overlap exists, 
please indicate this in Attachment 
4: General Applicant Information 
Question 8. 
 
Where to Document:    

 Attachment 4: General 
Applicant Information, 
Question 8 

 Upload: Letter of Mutual 
Cooperation, if overlap 
exists  

Requirement 10: No More Than 10 Years Of DFC 
Funding   

To receive a DFC grant, coalitions may not have 
received 10 years of DFC funding. Coalitions that 
received funding for the first grant period (5 years) are 
eligible to apply for an additional 5 years of funding.  
21 USC 1532 (b)(3)(A)  

Evidence Required: The coalition 
has not exceeded 10 years of DFC 
funding.  
  
Where to Document:    

 Attachment 2: Assurance 
of DFC 10-Year Funding 
Limit 

3. Justification for Less than Maximum Competition 
N/A 

4. Cost Sharing or Matching 
 Cost Sharing / Matching Requirement: 
Yes 
The DFC authorizing legislation requires recipients to demonstrate that they have non-federal 
matching funds (“match”) from non-federal sources equivalent to or greater than federal funds 

55

Item 11.



  Page 25 of 57 

requested from the DFC Support Program. Applicants must itemize the match separately in the 
budget and explain the match in the Budget Narrative. CDC budget preparation guidelines can be 
found at https://www.cdc.gov/grants/documents/Budget-Preparation-Guidance.pdf. Applicants in 
Years 1-6 of the DFC funding are required to have 100 percent match (1:1) from non-federal 
sources. Beginning in Year Seven, the percentage increases. The below table indicates the 
percentage of match required for DFC grant recipients in each year of the grant. Cash or in-kind 
support may be used for the match requirement.  
 
Percentage of Match  

Year of Funding Request Matching Requirement 

1-6 100% 

7 - 8 125% 

9 - 10 150% 
Examples of ACCEPTABLE in-kind support/match include the following (not limited to) 

 The value of goods and services donated to the operation of the DFC coalition, including 
but not limited to office space, volunteer secretarial services, pro bono accounting 
services, and other volunteer services to support the coalition’s work. 

 Other volunteer services can include youth hours worked on events. 
 In-kind support can include training programs sponsored by other coalitions or partners 

for the community. 
 Coalitions that include a representative with expertise in the field of substance use from 

the Bureau of Indian Affairs, the Indian Health Service, or a tribal government agency 
and that are serving a tribal community can use additional federal funding as match. 

Examples of UNACCEPTABLE in-kind support/match include the following (not limited to): 

 Federal funds, including those passed through a state or local government, (e.g., CARA, 
STOP, etc.) 

All in-kind/match must follow federal cost principles (see Administrative and National Policy 
Requirements Section within the NOFO). In-kind/match support must align with allowable 
expenses under the DFC program. If an applicant has sufficient match to allow a budget request 
of the full required match amount, the applicant should round up the final budget figures to equal 
the required amount. A match level over the required amount will not result in a higher merit 
review score. All proposed match is an obligation on the part of the applicant. 
 
Based on the CDC Budget Preparation Guide, the applicant must provide a budget narrative for 
the non-federal match similar to the budget narrative for the federal request with the 
application. NOTE: As per both HHS/CDC and ONDCP guidelines, and applicable Anti-
Lobbying provisions, impermissible lobbying with federal dollars is not permitted. Additionally, 
such costs for impermissible lobbying cannot be used as match. 

56

Item 11.

https://www.cdc.gov/grants/documents/Budget-Preparation-Guidance.pdf


  Page 26 of 57 

5. Maintenance of Effort 
Maintenance of effort is not required for this program. 

D. Application and Submission Information 
1. Required Registrations 
An organization must be registered at the three following locations before it can submit an 
application for funding at www.grants.gov.  
 
PLEASE NOTE: For applications due on or after April 4, 2022, applicants must have a 
unique entity identifier (UEI) at the time of application submission (SF-424, field 8c).  In 
preparation for the federal government’s April 4, 2022 transition to the Unique Entity Identifier 
(UEI) from the Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS), applicants must obtain a UEI. The 
UEI is generated as part of SAM.gov registration. Current SAM.gov registrants have already 
been assigned their UEI and can view it in SAM.gov and grants.gov. Entities registering in 
SAM.gov prior to April 4, 2022 must still obtain a DUNS number before registering in SAM.gov 
registration. Additional information is available on the GSA website, SAM.gov, and Grants.gov-
Finding the UEI.  
 
a. Data Universal Numbering System:  
 
All applicant organizations must obtain a Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number to 
register in SAM.gov prior to April 4, 2022. A DUNS number is a unique nine-digit identification 
number provided by Dun & Bradstreet (D&B).  
 
The applicant organization may request a DUNS number by telephone at 1-866-705-5711 (toll 
free) or internet at  http:// fedgov.dnb. com/ webform/ displayHomePage.do. The DUNS number 
will be provided at no charge. 
 
If funds are awarded to an applicant organization that includes sub-recipients, those sub-
recipients must provide their DUNS numbers before accepting any funds. 
 
b. System for Award Management (SAM): 
 
The SAM is the primary registrant database for the federal government and the repository into 
which an entity must submit information required to conduct business as a recipient. All 
applicant organizations must register with SAM, and will be assigned a SAM number and a 
Unique Entity Identifier (UEI).  All information relevant to the SAM number must be current at 
all times during which the applicant has an application under consideration for funding by CDC. 
If an award is made, the SAM information must be maintained until a final financial report is 
submitted or the final payment is received, whichever is later. The SAM registration process can 
require 10 or more business days, and registration must be renewed annually. Additional 
information about registration procedures may be found at SAM.gov and the SAM.gov 
Knowledge Base. 
 
c. Grants.gov:  
 

57

Item 11.

https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.gsa.gov/about-us/organization/federal-acquisition-service/office-of-systems-management/integrated-award-environment-iae/iae-systems-information-kit/unique-entity-identifier-update
https://sam.gov/content/home
https://grantsgovprod.wordpress.com/2021/09/14/how-to-find-an-applicants-uei-within-grants-gov/
https://grantsgovprod.wordpress.com/2021/09/14/how-to-find-an-applicants-uei-within-grants-gov/
http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform/displayHomePage.do
https://sam.gov/content/home
https://nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.fsd.gov%2Fgsafsd_sp%3Fid%3Dgsa_kb_view2%26kb_id%3Df66d8e6cdb76d4100d73f81d0f9619c6&data=04%7C01%7Ccshifflett%40dminc.com%7C8eee7a2adab549a3b3c008d925e9a364%7Cdb7ac9ef779d46e59bca00509580ad6b%7C0%7C0%7C637582507851821018%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=UrR%2B%2FM2wWF2fZG05Z8O6JS2C3FXXSl%2F7B3%2FB45XHRrg%3D&reserved=0
https://nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.fsd.gov%2Fgsafsd_sp%3Fid%3Dgsa_kb_view2%26kb_id%3Df66d8e6cdb76d4100d73f81d0f9619c6&data=04%7C01%7Ccshifflett%40dminc.com%7C8eee7a2adab549a3b3c008d925e9a364%7Cdb7ac9ef779d46e59bca00509580ad6b%7C0%7C0%7C637582507851821018%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=UrR%2B%2FM2wWF2fZG05Z8O6JS2C3FXXSl%2F7B3%2FB45XHRrg%3D&reserved=0
https://grants.gov/


  Page 27 of 57 

The first step in submitting an application online is registering your organization 
at www.grants.gov, the official HHS E-grant Web site. Registration information is located at the 
"Applicant Registration" option at www.grants.gov.   
 
All applicant organizations must register at www.grants.gov. The one-time registration process 
usually takes not more than five days to complete. Applicants should start the registration 
process as early as possible. 

Step
  System Requirements Duration Follow Up 

1 

Data 
Universal 
Number 
System 
(DUNS) 
(Required 
until April 4, 
2022) 

1. Click on http:// 
fedgov.dnb.com/ webform  

2. Select Begin DUNS 
search/request process 
3. Select your country or territory 
and follow the instructions to 
obtain your DUNS 9-digit # 
4. Request appropriate staff 
member(s) to obtain DUNS 
number, verify & update 
information under DUNS number 

1-2 Business Days 

To confirm that 
you have been 
issued a new 
DUNS number 
check online at 
(http:// 
fedgov.dnb.com/ 
webform) or 
call 1-866-705-
5711 

2 

System for 
Award 
Management 
(SAM)  

1. Retrieve organizations DUNS 
number (required until April 4, 
2022) 

2. Go to SAM.gov and designate 
an E-Biz POC (You will need to 
have an active SAM account 
before you can register on 
grants.gov).  The UEI is generated 
as part of your registration. 

3-5 Business Days but 
up to 2 weeks and must 
be renewed once a year 

For SAM 
Customer Service 
Contact https://fs
d.gov/ fsd-gov/ 
home.do Calls: 86
6-606-8220 

3 Grants.gov 

1. Set up an individual account in 
Grants.gov using organization new 
DUNS number to become an 
authorized 
organization representative 
(AOR) 

2. Once the account is set up the 
E-BIZ POC will be notified via 
email 
3. Log into grants.gov using the 
password the E-BIZ POC received 
and create new password 
4. This authorizes the AOR to 

Same day but can take 8 
weeks to be fully 
registered and approved 
in the system (note, 
applicants MUST 
obtain a DUNS number 
and SAM account 
before applying on 
grants.gov) 

Register early! 
Log into 
grants.gov and 
check AOR status 
until it shows you 
have been 
approved 

58

Item 11.

https://www.grants.gov/
http://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/
http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform
http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform
http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform
http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform
http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform
https://sam.gov/content/home
https://fsd.gov/fsd-gov/home.do
https://fsd.gov/fsd-gov/home.do
https://fsd.gov/fsd-gov/home.do


  Page 28 of 57 

submit applications on behalf of 
the organization 

2. Request Application Package 
Applicants may access the application package at www.grants.gov. 

3. Application Package 
Applicants must download the SF-424, Application for Federal Assistance, package associated 
with this notice of funding opportunity at www.grants.gov. 
4. Submission Dates and Times 
If the application is not submitted by the deadline published in the NOFO, it will not be 
processed. Office of Grants Services (OGS) personnel will notify the applicant that their 
application did not meet the deadline. The applicant must receive pre-approval to submit a paper 
application (see Other Submission Requirements section for additional details). If the applicant is 
authorized to submit a paper application, it must be received by the deadline provided by OGS. 

a. Letter of Intent Deadline (must be emailed) 

Number Of Days from Publication _________ 

b. Application Deadline 

Due Date for Applications 04/11/2022 

04/11/2022  
11:59 pm U.S. Eastern Standard Time, at www.grants.gov. If Grants.gov is inoperable and 
cannot receive applications, and circumstances preclude advance notification of an extension, 
then applications must be submitted by the first business day on which grants.gov operations 
resume. 

Due Date for Information Conference Call 
All applicants are strongly encouraged to attend the Drug-Free Communities - Applicant 
Workshop Webinar on February 24th, 2022, from 2:00pm – 3:30pm EST. Please register in 
advance using the following link: 
https://ww2.eventrebels.com/er/Registration/StepRegInfo.jsp?ActivityID=39794&StepNumber=
1 

5. Pre-Award Assessments 
Risk Assessment Questionnaire Requirement 

CDC is required to conduct pre-award risk assessments to determine the risk an applicant poses 
to meeting federal programmatic and administrative requirements by taking into account issues 
such as financial instability, insufficient management systems, non-compliance with award 
conditions, the charging of unallowable costs, and inexperience. The risk assessment will include 
an evaluation of the applicant’s CDC Risk Questionnaire, located 
at https://www.cdc.gov/grants/documents/PPMR-G-CDC-Risk-Questionnaire.pdf, as well as a 
review of the applicant’s history in all available systems; including OMB-designated repositories 
of government-wide eligibility and financial integrity systems (see 45 CFR 75.205(a)), and other 
sources of historical information. These systems include, but are not limited to: FAPIIS 
(https://www.fapiis.gov/), including past performance on federal contracts as per Duncan Hunter 

59

Item 11.

https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/
https://ww2.eventrebels.com/er/Registration/StepRegInfo.jsp?ActivityID=39794&StepNumber=1
https://ww2.eventrebels.com/er/Registration/StepRegInfo.jsp?ActivityID=39794&StepNumber=1
https://www.cdc.gov/grants/documents/PPMR-G-CDC-Risk-Questionnaire.pdf


  Page 29 of 57 

National Defense Authorization Act of 2009; Do Not Pay list; and System for Award 
Management (SAM) exclusions. 
 
CDC requires all applicants to complete the Risk Questionnaire, OMB Control Number 0920-
1132 annually.  This questionnaire, which is located 
at https://www.cdc.gov/grants/documents/PPMR-G-CDC-Risk-Questionnaire.pdf, along with 
supporting documentation must be submitted with your application by the closing date of the 
Notice of Funding Opportunity Announcement.  If your organization has completed CDC’s Risk 
Questionnaire within the past 12 months of the closing date of this NOFO, then you must submit 
a copy of that questionnaire, or submit a letter signed by the authorized organization 
representative to include the original submission date, organization’s EIN and DUNS. 

When uploading supporting documentation for the Risk Questionnaire into this application 
package, clearly label the documents for easy identification of the type of documentation. For 
example, a copy of Procurement policy submitted in response to the questionnaire may be 
labeled using the following format:   Risk Questionnaire Supporting Documents _ Procurement 
Policy. 
 
Duplication of Efforts 

Applicants are responsible for reporting if this application will result in programmatic, 
budgetary, or commitment overlap with another application or award (i.e. grant, cooperative 
agreement, or contract) submitted to another funding source in the same fiscal 
year.  Programmatic overlap occurs when (1) substantially the same project is proposed in more 
than one application or is submitted to two or more funding sources for review and funding 
consideration or (2) a specific objective and the project design for accomplishing the objective 
are the same or closely related in two or more applications or awards, regardless of the funding 
source.  Budgetary overlap occurs when duplicate or equivalent budgetary items (e.g., 
equipment, salaries) are requested in an application but already are provided by another 
source.  Commitment overlap occurs when an individual’s time commitment exceeds 100 
percent, whether or not salary support is requested in the application.  Overlap, whether 
programmatic, budgetary, or commitment of an individual’s effort greater than 100 percent, is 
not permitted.  Any overlap will be resolved by the CDC with the applicant and the PD/PI prior 
to award.  

Report Submission: The applicant must upload the report in Grants.gov under “Other 
Attachment Forms.”  The document should be labeled: "Report on Programmatic, Budgetary, 
and Commitment Overlap.” 

6. Content and Form of Application Submission 
Applicants are required to include all of the following documents with their application package 
at www.grants.gov. 

7. Letter of Intent 
LOI is not requested or required as part of the application for this NOFO. 

60

Item 11.

https://www.cdc.gov/grants/documents/PPMR-G-CDC-Risk-Questionnaire.pdf
https://www.grants.gov/


  Page 30 of 57 

8. Table of Contents 
(There is no page limit. The table of contents is not included in the project narrative page 
limit.): The applicant must provide, as a separate attachment, the “Table of Contents” for the 
entire submission package. 

Provide a detailed table of contents for the entire submission package that includes all of the 
documents in the application and headings in the "Project Narrative" section. Name the file 
"Table of Contents" and upload it as a PDF file under "Other Attachment Forms" 
at www.grants.gov. 

9. Project Abstract Summary 
A project abstract is included on the mandatory documents list and must be submitted 
at www.grants.gov. The project abstract must be a self-contained, brief summary of the proposed 
project including the purpose and outcomes. This summary must not include any proprietary or 
confidential information. Applicants must enter the summary in the "Project Abstract Summary" 
text box at www.grants.gov. 

10. Project Narrative 
(Unless specified in the "H. Other Information" section, maximum of 20 pages, single spaced, 12 
point font, 1-inch margins, number all pages. This includes the work plan. Content beyond the 
specified page number will not be reviewed.) 

Applicants must submit a Project Narrative with the application forms. Applicants must name 
this file “Project Narrative” and upload it at www.grants.gov. The Project Narrative must 
include all of the following headings (including subheadings):  Background, Approach, 
Applicant Evaluation and Performance Measurement Plan, Organizational Capacity of 
Applicants to Implement the Approach, and Work Plan. The Project Narrative must be succinct, 
self-explanatory, and in the order outlined in this section. It must address outcomes and activities 
to be conducted over the entire period of performance as identified in the CDC Project 
Description section. Applicants should use the federal plain language guidelines and Clear 
Communication Index to respond to this Notice of Funding Opportunity. Note that recipients 
should also use these tools when creating public communication materials supported by this 
NOFO.  Failure to follow the guidance and format may negatively impact scoring of the 
application. 

a. Background 
Applicants must provide a description of relevant background information that includes the 
context of the problem (See CDC Background). 

b. Approach 
i. Purpose 

Applicants must describe in 2-3 sentences specifically how their application will address the 
public health problem as described in the CDC Background section. 
  

ii. Outcomes 

61

Item 11.

https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/


  Page 31 of 57 

Applicants must clearly identify the outcomes they expect to achieve by the end of the project 
period, as identified in the logic model in the Approach section of the CDC Project Description. 
Outcomes are the results that the program intends to achieve and usually indicate the intended 
direction of change (e.g., increase, decrease). 
  

iii. Strategies and Activities 

Applicants must provide a clear and concise description of the strategies and activities they will 
use to achieve the period of performance outcomes. Applicants must select existing evidence-
based strategies that meet their needs, or describe in the Applicant Evaluation and Performance 
Measurement Plan how these strategies will be evaluated over the course of the project period. 
See the Strategies and Activities section of the CDC Project Description. 
  

1. Collaborations 

Applicants must describe how they will collaborate with programs and organizations either 
internal or external to CDC.  Applicants must address the Collaboration requirements as 
described in the CDC Project Description. 

2. Target Populations and Health Disparities 
Applicants must describe the specific target population(s) in their jurisdiction and explain how 
such a target will achieve the goals of the award and/or alleviate health disparities.  The 
applicants must also address how they will include specific populations that can benefit from the 
program that is described in the Approach section.  Applicants must address the Target 
Populations and Health Disparities requirements as described in the CDC Project Description. 

c. Applicant Evaluation and Performance Measurement Plan 
Applicants must provide an evaluation and performance measurement plan that demonstrates 
how the recipient will fulfill the requirements described in the CDC Evaluation and Performance 
Measurement and Project Description sections of this NOFO. At a minimum, the plan must 
describe: 

 How applicant will collect the performance measures, respond to the evaluation 
questions, and use evaluation findings for continuous program quality improvement. The 
Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995 (PRA): Applicants are advised that any activities 
involving information collections (e.g., surveys, questionnaires, applications, audits, data 
requests, reporting, recordkeeping and disclosure requirements) from 10 or more 
individuals or non-Federal entities, including State and local governmental agencies, and 
funded or sponsored by the Federal Government are subject to review and approval by 
the Office of Management and Budget. For further information about CDC’s 
requirements under PRA see http://www.hhs.gov/ ocio/policy/collection/. 

 How key program partners will participate in the evaluation and performance 
measurement planning processes. 

 Available data sources, feasibility of collecting appropriate evaluation and performance 
data, data management plan (DMP), and other relevant data information (e.g., 
performance measures proposed by the applicant). 

62

Item 11.

http://www.hhs.gov/ocio/policy/collection/


  Page 32 of 57 

Where the applicant chooses to, or is expected to, take on specific evaluation studies, they should 
be directed to: 

 Describe the type of evaluations (i.e., process, outcome, or both).  

 Describe key evaluation questions to be addressed by these evaluations.  

 Describe other information (e.g., measures, data sources). 

Recipients will be required to submit a more detailed Evaluation and Performance Measurement 
plan (including the DMP elements) within the first 6 months of award, as described in the 
Reporting Section of this NOFO. 

d. Organizational Capacity of Applicants to Implement the Approach 
Applicants must address the organizational capacity requirements as described in the CDC 
Project Description. 

11. Work Plan 
(Included in the Project Narrative’s page limit) 

Applicants must prepare a work plan consistent with the CDC Project Description Work Plan 
section. The work plan integrates and delineates more specifically how the recipient plans to 
carry out achieving the period of performance outcomes, strategies and activities, evaluation and 
performance measurement.  

12. Budget Narrative 
Applicants must submit an itemized budget narrative. When developing the budget narrative, 
applicants must consider whether the proposed budget is reasonable and consistent with the 
purpose, outcomes, and program strategy outlined in the project narrative. The budget must 
include: 

 Salaries and wages 

 Fringe benefits 

 Consultant costs 

 Equipment 

 Supplies 

 Travel 

 Other categories 

 Contractual costs 

 Total Direct costs 

 Total Indirect costs 

Indirect costs could include the cost of collecting, managing, sharing and preserving data. 

63

Item 11.



  Page 33 of 57 

Indirect costs on grants awarded to foreign organizations and foreign public entities and 
performed fully outside of the territorial limits of the U.S. may be paid to support the costs of 
compliance with federal requirements at a fixed rate of eight percent of MTDC exclusive of 
tuition and related fees, direct expenditures for equipment, and subawards in excess of 
$25,000.  Negotiated indirect costs may be paid to the American University, Beirut, and the 
World Health Organization. 

If applicable and consistent with the cited statutory authority for this announcement, applicant 
entities may use funds for activities as they relate to the intent of this NOFO to meet national 
standards or seek health department accreditation through the Public Health Accreditation Board 
(see: http://www.phaboard.org). Applicant entities to whom this provision applies include state, 
local, territorial governments (including the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto 
Rico, the Virgin Islands, the Commonwealth of the Northern Marianna Islands, American 
Samoa, Guam, the Federated States of Micronesia, the Republic of the Marshall Islands, and the 
Republic of Palau), or their bona fide agents, political subdivisions of states (in consultation with 
states), federally recognized or state-recognized American Indian or Alaska Native tribal 
governments, and American Indian or Alaska Native tribally designated organizations. Activities 
include those that enable a public health organization to deliver public health services such as 
activities that ensure a capable and qualified workforce, up-to-date information systems, and the 
capability to assess and respond to public health needs. Use of these funds must focus on 
achieving a minimum of one national standard that supports the intent of the NOFO. Proposed 
activities must be included in the budget narrative and must indicate which standards will be 
addressed. 

Vital records data, including births and deaths, are used to inform public health program and 
policy decisions. If applicable and consistent with the cited statutory authority for this NOFO, 
applicant entities are encouraged to collaborate with and support their jurisdiction’s vital records 
office (VRO) to improve vital records data timeliness, quality and access, and to advance public 
health goals. Recipients may, for example, use funds to support efforts to build VRO capacity 
through partnerships; provide technical and/or financial assistance to improve vital records 
timeliness, quality or access; or support vital records improvement efforts, as approved by CDC. 

Applicants must name this file “Budget Narrative” and upload it as a PDF file 
at www.grants.gov. If requesting indirect costs in the budget, a copy of the indirect cost-rate 
agreement is required. If the indirect costs are requested, include a copy of the current negotiated 
federal indirect cost rate agreement or a cost allocation plan approval letter for those Recipients 
under such a plan. Applicants must name this file “Indirect Cost Rate” and upload it 
at www.grants.gov. 

13. Funds Tracking 
Proper fiscal oversight is critical to maintaining public trust in the stewardship of federal funds. 
Effective October 1, 2013, a new HHS policy on subaccounts requires the CDC to set up 
payment subaccounts within the Payment Management System (PMS) for all new grant awards. 
Funds awarded in support of approved activities and drawdown instructions will be identified on 
the Notice of Award in a newly established PMS subaccount (P subaccount). Recipients will be 
required to draw down funds from award-specific accounts in the PMS. Ultimately, the 
subaccounts will provide recipients and CDC a more detailed and precise understanding of 
financial transactions. The successful applicant will be required to track funds by P-accounts/sub 

64

Item 11.

http://www.phaboard.org/
https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/


  Page 34 of 57 

accounts for each project/cooperative agreement awarded. Applicants are encouraged to 
demonstrate a record of fiscal responsibility and the ability to provide sufficient and effective 
oversight. Financial management systems must meet the requirements as described 45 CFR 75 
which include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 Records that identify adequately the source and application of funds for federally-funded 
activities. 

 Effective control over, and accountability for, all funds, property, and other assets. 

 Comparison of expenditures with budget amounts for each Federal award. 

 Written procedures to implement payment requirements. 

 Written procedures for determining cost allowability. 

 Written procedures for financial reporting and monitoring. 

14. Pilot Program for Enhancement of Employee Whistleblower Protections 
Pilot Program for Enhancement of Employee Whistleblower Protections: All applicants will be 
subject to a term and condition that applies the terms of 48 Code of Federal Regulations 
(CFR) section 3.908 to the award and requires that recipients inform their employees in writing 
(in the predominant native language of the workforce) of employee whistleblower rights and 
protections under 41 U.S.C. 4712. 

15. Copyright Interests Provisions 
This provision is intended to ensure that the public has access to the results and accomplishments 
of public health activities funded by CDC. Pursuant to applicable grant regulations and CDC’s 
Public Access Policy, Recipient agrees to submit into the National Institutes of Health (NIH) 
Manuscript Submission (NIHMS) system an electronic version of the final, peer-reviewed 
manuscript of any such work developed under this award upon acceptance for publication, to be 
made publicly available no later than 12 months after the official date of publication. Also at the 
time of submission, Recipient and/or the Recipient’s submitting author must specify the date the 
final manuscript will be publicly accessible through PubMed Central (PMC). Recipient and/or 
Recipient’s submitting author must also post the manuscript through PMC within twelve (12) 
months of the publisher's official date of final publication; however the author is strongly 
encouraged to make the subject manuscript available as soon as possible. The recipient must 
obtain prior approval from the CDC for any exception to this provision. 

  

The author's final, peer-reviewed manuscript is defined as the final version accepted for journal 
publication, and includes all modifications from the publishing peer review process, and all 
graphics and supplemental material associated with the article. Recipient and its submitting 
authors working under this award are responsible for ensuring that any publishing or copyright 
agreements concerning submitted articles reserve adequate right to fully comply with this 
provision and the license reserved by CDC. The manuscript will be hosted in both PMC and the 
CDC Stacks institutional repository system. In progress reports for this award, recipient must 
identify publications subject to the CDC Public Access Policy by using the applicable NIHMS 

65

Item 11.



  Page 35 of 57 

identification number for up to three (3) months after the publication date and the PubMed 
Central identification number (PMCID) thereafter. 

16. Funding Restrictions 
Restrictions that must be considered while planning the programs and writing the budget are: 

 Recipients may not use funds for research. 

 Recipients may not use funds for clinical care except as allowed by law. 

 Recipients may use funds only for reasonable program purposes, including personnel, 
travel, supplies, and services. 

 Generally, recipients may not use funds to purchase furniture or equipment. Any such 
proposed spending must be clearly identified in the budget. 

 Reimbursement of pre-award costs generally is not allowed, unless the CDC provides 
written approval to the recipient. 

 Other than for normal and recognized executive-legislative relationships, no funds may 
be used for: 

o publicity or propaganda purposes, for the preparation, distribution, or use of any 
material designed to support or defeat the enactment of legislation before any 
legislative body 

o the salary or expenses of any grant or contract recipient, or agent acting for such 
recipient, related to any activity designed to influence the enactment of 
legislation, appropriations, regulation, administrative action, or Executive order 
proposed or pending before any legislative body 

 See Additional Requirement (AR) 12 for detailed guidance on this prohibition 
and additional guidance on lobbying for CDC recipients. 

 The direct and primary recipient in a cooperative agreement program must perform a 
substantial role in carrying out project outcomes and not merely serve as a conduit for an 
award to another party or provider who is ineligible. 

 DFC grant funds may not be used to supplant current funding of existing activities. 
“Supplant” is defined as replacing funding of an Applicant’s existing program with funds 
from a federal grant. 

 No more than 10 percent of the total federal grant award may be used for data collection 
and evaluation purposes unless approved by the Project Officer and Grants Management 
Specialist. 

 Applicants may not use funds to provide funding to community organizations through 
mini-grants, including one coalition funding another coalition. 

 Applicants may not use funding for stipends or for tuition expenses. 
 Applicants may not use funds for the following (not a fully exhaustive list):  

o Youth Sports Programs 
o Purchase of Naloxone/Narcan 
o Treatment services/programs/facilities 

66

Item 11.

https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-requirements/ar-12.html
http://www.cdc.gov/grants/documents/Anti-Lobbying_Restrictions_for_CDC_Grantees_July_2012.pdf


  Page 36 of 57 

o Construction 
o Landscaping/neighborhood revitalization projects, including lighting or 

community gardening efforts 
o Law enforcement equipment, drug courts, drug search detection canines, or 

related training 
o Vaping detection devices, vaping collection boxes, marijuana tests, or fentanyl 

test strips   

 Special Considerations:  
o Food is generally unallowable. Exceptions within the DFC Support Program 

may include food used as a small incentive (not to exceed $3.00 per person) to 
encourage participation in a community-wide event. Food costs are not allowable 
for general coalition or subcommittee meetings. 

o The cost of promotional items is generally unallowable. However, the exception 
would be for program outreach, and other specific purposes necessary to meet the 
requirements, goals, and objectives of the federal grant award. 

Funding Restrictions for a Legal applicant applying as a Fiscal Agent applying on behalf of 
a coalition:  

 An organization serving as fiscal agent may not receive DFC funds on behalf of a 
coalition that has had 10 years of DFC funding.   

Funding Restrictions on 501(c)(3) coalitions:  

 A coalition applying as its own legal applicant [i.e., 501(c)(3)] or through one or more 
Fiscal Agents, may receive no more than 10 years of DFC funding. 

17. Data Management Plan 
As identified in the Evaluation and Performance Measurement section, applications involving 
data collection or generation must include a Data Management Plan (DMP) as part of their 
evaluation and performance measurement plan unless CDC has stated that CDC will take on the 
responsibility of creating the DMP.  The DMP describes plans for assurance of the quality of the 
public health data through the data's lifecycle and plans to deposit the data in a repository to 
preserve and to make the data accessible in a timely manner.  See web link for additional 
information:   
https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-requirements/ar-25.html. 

18. Other Submission Requirements 
a. Electronic Submission:  

Applications must be submitted electronically by using the forms and instructions posted for this 
notice of funding opportunity at www.grants.gov.  Applicants can complete the application 
package using Workspace, which allows forms to be filled out online or offline.  All application 
attachments must be submitted using a PDF file format.  Instructions and training for using 
Workspace can be found at www.grants.gov under the "Workspace Overview" option.   
  

67

Item 11.

https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-requirements/ar-25.html


  Page 37 of 57 

b. Tracking Number: Applications submitted through www.grants.gov are time/date stamped 
electronically and assigned a tracking number. The applicant’s Authorized Organization 
Representative (AOR) will be sent an e-mail notice of receipt when www.grants.gov receives the 
application. The tracking number documents that the application has been submitted and initiates 
the required electronic validation process before the application is made available to CDC. 

c. Validation Process: Application submission is not concluded until the validation process is 
completed successfully. After the application package is submitted, the applicant will receive a 
“submission receipt” e-mail generated by www.grants.gov. A second e-mail message to 
applicants will then be generated by www.grants.gov that will either validate or reject the 
submitted application package. This validation process may take as long as two business days. 
Applicants are strongly encouraged to check the status of their application to ensure that 
submission of their package has been completed and no submission errors have occurred. 
Applicants also are strongly encouraged to allocate ample time for filing to guarantee that their 
application can be submitted and validated by the deadline published in the NOFO. Non-
validated applications will not be accepted after the published application deadline date. 

If you do not receive a “validation” e-mail within two business days of application submission, 
please contact www.grants.gov. For instructions on how to track your application, refer to the e-
mail message generated at the time of application submission or the Grants.gov Online User 
Guide. 

https:// www.grants.gov/help/html/help/index.htm? callingApp=custom#t= 
Get_Started%2FGet_Started. htm 

d. Technical Difficulties: If technical difficulties are encountered at www.grants.gov, applicants 
should contact Customer Service at www.grants.gov. The www.grants.gov Contact Center is 
available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, except federal holidays. The Contact Center is available 
by phone at 1-800-518-4726 or by e-mail at support@grants.gov. Application submissions sent 
by e-mail or fax, or on CDs or thumb drives will not be accepted. Please note that 
www.grants.gov is managed by HHS. 

e. Paper Submission: If technical difficulties are encountered at www.grants.gov, applicants 
should call the www.grants.gov Contact Center at 1-800-518-4726 or e-mail them 
at support@grants.gov for assistance. After consulting with the Contact Center, if the technical 
difficulties remain unresolved and electronic submission is not possible, applicants may e-mail 
CDC GMO/GMS, before the deadline, and request permission to submit a paper application. 
Such requests are handled on a case-by-case basis. 

An applicant’s request for permission to submit a paper application must: 

1. Include the www.grants.gov case number assigned to the inquiry 

2. Describe the difficulties that prevent electronic submission and the efforts taken with 
the www.grants.gov Contact Center to submit electronically;  and 

3. Be received via e-mail to the GMS/GMO listed below at least three calendar days before 
the application deadline. Paper applications submitted without prior approval will not be 
considered. 
 

68

Item 11.

https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/help/html/help/index.htm?callingApp=custom#t=Get_Started%2FGet_Started.htm
https://www.grants.gov/help/html/help/index.htm?callingApp=custom#t=Get_Started%2FGet_Started.htm
https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/
mailto:support@www.grants.gov
https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/
mailto:support@www.grants.gov
https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/


  Page 38 of 57 

If a paper application is authorized, OGS will advise the applicant of specific instructions 
for submitting the application via email. 

E. Review and Selection Process 
1. Review and Selection Process: Applications will be reviewed in three phases 
a. Phase 1 Review 

All applications will be initially reviewed for eligibility and completeness by CDC Office of 
Grants Services. Complete applications will be reviewed for responsiveness by the Grants 
Management Officials and Program Officials. Non-responsive applications will not advance to 
Phase II review. Applicants will be notified that their applications did not meet eligibility and/or 
published submission requirements. 

 
b. Phase II Review 
A review panel will evaluate complete, eligible applications in accordance with the criteria 
below. 
 
i. Approach  
ii. Evaluation and Performance Measurement 
iii. Applicant’s Organizational Capacity to Implement the Approach 
 
Not more than thirty days after the Phase II review is completed, applicants will be notified 
electronically if their application does not meet eligibility or published submission requirements 
Approach  Maximum Points: 50  
In this section, points are awarded based on the extent to which the applicant addresses:   

 Background: Defines the nature and scope of the problem in the community, including 
the risk factors and local conditions that are driving youth substance use. Applicants 
should include data to demonstrate how the chosen substances have contributed to 
problems among youth in the community. (15 points) 

 Approach: (20 Points)  
o Purpose: Summarizes how their application addresses youth substance use in 

their communities, including the mission of the coalition as it relates to 
prevention of youth substance use. (5 Points) 

o Outcomes: Aligns the longer-term goals with the activities and strategies outlined 
in the DFC Framework. (5 Points) 

o Strategies and Activities: Proposes a detailed 12-month action plan that provides 
a comprehensive approach to prevent youth substance use using the seven 
strategies for community level change. The action plan identifies at least 2 
substances of focus and addresses the program goals of increasing community 
collaboration and reducing substance use among youth. The action plan includes 
SMART objectives that align with the strategies, activities, and timeline, 
and identifies the responsible party. (10 Points) 

69

Item 11.



  Page 39 of 57 

 Collaborations: Describes the collaboration with other organizations, leaders, and key 
partners who have a role in conducting the proposed activities and achieving the project 
goals. (5 Points) 

 Target Populations and Health Disparities: Defines the population of focus and 
rationale for selection.  Addresses health disparities and promotes health equity, 
including populations at risk and geographic areas served. (10 Points) 

Evaluation and Performance Measurement  Maximum Points: 25  
In this section, points are awarded based on the extent the applicant: 

o Describes how the coalition will participate in the DFC National Cross-Site Evaluation 
and collect data on youth alcohol, tobacco, marijuana, and/or prescription drug use for 
the four core measures. (10 points) 

o Describes how the coalition will monitor and evaluate the success of the goals and 
objectives of the workplan (i.e., 12-Month Action Plan). (10 points) 

o Describes how the coalition will disseminate the information to all segments of the 
community, including a description of the data that will be produced using these NOFO 
funds. (5 Points) 

Applicant’s Organizational Capacity to Implement the 
Approach  Maximum Points: 25  

In this section, points are awarded based on the extent to which the applicant: 

o Demonstrates the capacity of the organization to manage the programmatic and fiscal 
requirements of the grant. (4 Points) 

o Identifies the key personnel and their roles and responsibilities.  (8 Points) 
o Describes the role of the community coalition, including how the 12 sector 

representatives have been involved in achieving the coalition’s goals. (10 Points) 
o Describes how the coalition recruits and retains members, especially youth 

representation. (3 Points) 

Budget  Maximum Points: 0  
A Budget is required for submission. CDC budget preparation guidelines can be found 
at https://www.cdc.gov/grants/documents/Budget-Preparation-Guidance.pdf. The Budget is not 
included in the 20-page limit of the Project Narrative. The Budget will be reviewed, but not 
scored. 

 
c. Phase III Review 
Applicants will be funded in rank order based on the average of the reviewer scores. In the case 
of a tie, ONDCP may take into consideration factors relating to rural, American Indian/Alaska 
Native, and economically disadvantaged communities. Both the successful and the unsuccessful 
applicants will be notified of the outcome of the merit review prior to the start of the project 
period. 

Review of risk posed by applicants. 
Prior to making a Federal award, CDC is required by 31 U.S.C. 3321 and 41 U.S.C. 2313 to 
review information available through any OMB-designated repositories of government-wide 

70

Item 11.

https://www.cdc.gov/grants/documents/Budget-Preparation-Guidance.pdf


  Page 40 of 57 

eligibility qualification or financial integrity information as appropriate. See also suspension and 
debarment requirements at 2 CFR parts 180 and 376. 

In accordance 41 U.S.C. 2313, CDC is required to review the non-public segment of the OMB-
designated integrity and performance system accessible through SAM (currently the 
Federal Recipient Performance and Integrity Information System (FAPIIS)) prior to making a 
Federal award where the Federal share is expected to exceed the simplified acquisition threshold, 
defined in 41 U.S.C. 134, over the period of performance. At a minimum, the information in the 
system for a prior Federal award recipient must demonstrate a satisfactory record of executing 
programs or activities under Federal grants, cooperative agreements, or procurement awards; and 
integrity and business ethics. CDC may make a Federal award to a recipient who does not fully 
meet these standards, if it is determined that the information is not relevant to the current Federal 
award under consideration or there are specific conditions that can appropriately mitigate the 
effects of the non-Federal entity's risk in accordance with 45 CFR §75.207. 

CDC’s framework for evaluating the risks posed by an applicant may incorporate results of the 
evaluation of the applicant's eligibility or the quality of its application. If it is determined that a 
Federal award will be made, special conditions that correspond to the degree of risk assessed 
may be applied to the Federal award. The evaluation criteria is described in this Notice of 
Funding Opportunity. 

In evaluating risks posed by applicants, CDC will use a risk-based approach and may consider 
any items such as the following: 

(1) Financial stability; 

(2) Quality of management systems and ability to meet the management standards prescribed in 
this part; 

(3) History of performance. The applicant's record in managing Federal awards, if it is a prior 
recipient of Federal awards, including timeliness of compliance with applicable reporting 
requirements, conformance to the terms and conditions of previous Federal awards, and if 
applicable, the extent to which any previously awarded amounts will be expended prior to future 
awards; 

(4) Reports and findings from audits performed under subpart F 45 CFR 75 or the reports and 
findings of any other available audits; and 

(5) The applicant's ability to effectively implement statutory, regulatory, or other requirements 
imposed on non-Federal entities. 

CDC must comply with the guidelines on government-wide suspension and debarment in 2 CFR 
part 180, and  require non-Federal entities to comply with these provisions. These provisions 
restrict Federal awards, subawards and contracts with certain parties that are debarred, suspended 
or otherwise excluded from or ineligible for participation in Federal programs or activities. 

2. Announcement and Anticipated Award Dates 
Successful applicants will be notified in writing by CDC Office of Grant Services prior to the 
start of the award on September 30, 2022.  

F. Award Administration Information 

71

Item 11.



  Page 41 of 57 

1. Award Notices 
Recipients will receive an electronic copy of the Notice of Award (NOA) from CDC OGS. The 
NOA shall be the only binding, authorizing document between the recipient and CDC. The 
NOA will be signed by an authorized GMO and emailed to the Recipient Business Officer listed 
in application and the Program Director. 

Any applicant awarded funds in response to this Notice of Funding Opportunity will be subject 
to the DUNS, SAM Registration, and Federal Funding Accountability And Transparency Act Of 
2006 (FFATA) requirements. 
 
Unsuccessful applicants will receive notification of these results by e-mail with delivery receipt. 

2. Administrative and National Policy Requirements 
Brief descriptions of relevant provisions are available at  Additional Requirements | Grants | 
CDC. 

The HHS Grants Policy Statement is available 
at http://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/grants/grants/policies-regulations/hhsgps107.pdf. 

The full text of the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for HHS Awards, 45 CFR 75, can be found at:  https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-
idx?node=pt45.1.75 
 
Should you successfully compete for an award, recipients of federal financial assistance (FFA) 
from HHS must administer their programs in compliance with federal civil rights laws that 
prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, disability, age and, in some 
circumstances, religion, conscience, and sex (including gender identity, sexual orientation, and 
pregnancy).This includes taking reasonable steps to provide meaningful access to persons with 
limited English proficiency and providing programs that are accessible to and usable by persons 
with disabilities. The HHS Office for Civil Rights provides guidance on complying with civil 
rights laws enforced by HHS. See https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-providers/provider-
obligations/index.html and https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-
individuals/nondiscrimination/index.html. 

• Recipients of FFA must ensure that their programs are accessible to persons with limited 
English proficiency. For guidance on meeting your legal obligation to take reasonable steps 
to ensure meaningful access to your programs or activities by limited English proficient 
individuals, see https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-individuals/special-topics/limited-
english-proficiency/fact-sheet-guidance/index.html and https://www.lep.gov. 

• For information on your specific legal obligations for serving qualified individuals with 
disabilities, including providing program access, reasonable modifications, and taking 
appropriate steps to provide effective communication, see 
http://www.hhs.gov/ocr/civilrights/understanding/disability/index.html. 

• HHS funded health and education programs must be administered in an environment free of 
sexual harassment, see https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-individuals/sex-
discrimination/index.html. 

72

Item 11.

https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-requirements/index.html
https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-requirements/index.html
http://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/grants/grants/policies-regulations/hhsgps107.pdf
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?node=pt45.1.75
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?node=pt45.1.75
https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-providers/provider-obligations/index.html
https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-providers/provider-obligations/index.html
https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-individuals/nondiscrimination/index.html
https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-individuals/nondiscrimination/index.html
https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-individuals/special-topics/limited-english-proficiency/fact-sheet-guidance/index.html
https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-individuals/special-topics/limited-english-proficiency/fact-sheet-guidance/index.html
https://www.lep.gov
http://www.hhs.gov/ocr/civilrights/understanding/disability/index.html
https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-individuals/sex-discrimination/index.html
https://www.hhs.gov/civil-rights/for-individuals/sex-discrimination/index.html


  Page 42 of 57 

• For guidance on administering your project in compliance with applicable federal religious 
nondiscrimination laws and applicable federal conscience protection and associated anti-
discrimination laws, see https://www.hhs.gov/conscience/conscience-protections/index.html 
and https://www.hhs.gov/conscience/religious-freedom/index.html. 

3. Reporting 
Reporting provides continuous program monitoring and identifies successes and challenges 
that recipients encounter throughout the project period. Also, reporting is a requirement 
for recipients who want to apply for yearly continuation of funding. Reporting helps CDC and 
recipients because it: 

 Helps target support to recipients; 

 Provides CDC with periodic data to monitor recipient progress toward meeting the Notice 
of Funding Opportunity outcomes and overall performance; 

 Allows CDC to track performance measures and evaluation findings for continuous 
quality and program improvement throughout the period of performance and to determine 
applicability of evidence-based approaches to different populations, settings, and 
contexts; and 

 Enables CDC to assess the overall effectiveness and influence of the NOFO. 

The table below summarizes required and optional reports. All required reports must be sent 
electronically to GMS listed in the “Agency Contacts” section of the NOFO copying the CDC 
Project Officer. 

Report When? Required? 
Recipient Evaluation and Performance 
Measurement Plan, including Data 
Management Plan (DMP) 
  

6 months into award Yes 

Annual Performance Report 
(APR) 

No later than 120 days before end 
of budget period. Serves as yearly 
continuation application. 

Yes 

Federal Financial Reporting 
Forms 

90 days after the end of the budget 
period 

Yes 

Final Performance and 
Financial Report 

90 days after end of period of 
performance 

Yes 

Payment Management System (PMS) 
Reporting 

Quarterly reports due January 30; 
April 30; July 
30; and October 30 

Yes 

Programmatic Reporting Requirements  
Report When? Required? 
Progress Report Semi-Annual Yes  
Core Measures Every 2 years  Yes 

73

Item 11.

https://www.hhs.gov/conscience/conscience-protections/index.html
https://www.hhs.gov/conscience/religious-freedom/index.html


  Page 43 of 57 

Sustainability Plan Year 3 and Year 7 Yes 

a. Recipient Evaluation and Performance Measurement Plan (required) 
With support from CDC, recipients must elaborate on their initial applicant evaluation and 
performance measurement plan. This plan must be no more than 20 pages; recipients must 
submit the plan 6 months into the award. HHS/CDC will review and approve the recipient’s 
monitoring and evaluation plan to ensure that it is appropriate for the activities to be undertaken 
as part of the agreement, for compliance with the monitoring and evaluation guidance established 
by HHS/CDC, or other guidance otherwise applicable to this Agreement. 
 
Recipient Evaluation and Performance Measurement Plan (required): This plan should provide 
additional detail on the following: 
 
Performance Measurement 
 
• Performance measures and targets 
• The frequency that performance data are to be collected. 
• How performance data will be reported. 
• How quality of performance data will be assured. 
• How performance measurement will yield findings to demonstrate progress towards 
achieving NOFO goals (e.g., reaching target populations or achieving expected outcomes). 
• Dissemination channels and audiences. 
• Other information requested as determined by the CDC program. 

  
Evaluation 

 
• The types of evaluations to be conducted (e.g. process or outcome evaluations). 
• The frequency that evaluations will be conducted. 
• How evaluation reports will be published on a publically available website. 
• How evaluation findings will be used to ensure continuous quality and program improvement. 
• How evaluation will yield findings to demonstrate the value of the NOFO (e.g., effect on 
improving public health outcomes, effectiveness of NOFO, cost-effectiveness or cost-benefit). 
• Dissemination channels and audiences. 

 
HHS/CDC or its designee will also undertake monitoring and evaluation of the defined activities 
within the agreement.  The recipient must ensure reasonable access by HHS/CDC or its designee 
to all necessary sites, documentation, individuals and information to monitor, evaluate and verify 
the appropriate implementation the activities and use of HHS/CDC funding under this 
Agreement. 

b. Annual Performance Report (APR) (required) 
The recipient must submit the APR via www.Grantsolutions.gov no later than 120 days prior to 
the end of the budget period. This report must not exceed 45 pages excluding administrative 
reporting. Attachments are not allowed, but web links are allowed. 

This report must include the following: 

74

Item 11.

http://www.grantsolutions.gov/


  Page 44 of 57 

 Performance Measures: Recipients must report on performance measures for each 
budget period and update measures, if needed. 

 Evaluation Results: Recipients must report evaluation results for the work completed to 
date (including findings from process or outcome evaluations). 

 Work Plan: Recipients must update work plan each budget period to reflect any changes 
in period of performance outcomes, activities, timeline, etc. 

 Successes 

o Recipients must report progress on completing activities and progress towards 
achieving the period of performance outcomes described in the logic model and 
work plan. 

o Recipients must describe any additional successes (e.g. identified through 
evaluation results or lessons learned) achieved in the past year. 

o Recipients must describe success stories. 

 Challenges 

o Recipients must describe any challenges that hindered or might hinder their 
ability to complete the work plan activities and achieve the period of performance 
outcomes. 

o Recipients must describe any additional challenges (e.g., identified through 
evaluation results or lessons learned) encountered in the past year. 

 CDC Program Support to Recipients 

o Recipients must describe how CDC could help them overcome challenges to 
complete activities in the work plan and achieving period of performance 
outcomes. 

 Administrative Reporting (No page limit) 

o SF-424A Budget Information-Non-Construction Programs. 

o Budget Narrative – Must use the format outlined in "Content and Form of 
Application Submission, Budget Narrative" section. 

o Indirect Cost Rate Agreement. 

The recipients must submit the Annual Performance Report via www.Grantsolutions.gov  no 
later than 120 days prior to the end of the budget period. 

c. Performance Measure Reporting (optional) 
CDC programs may require more frequent reporting of performance measures than annually in 
the APR. If this is the case, CDC programs must specify reporting frequency, data fields, and 
format for recipients at the beginning of the award period. 

d. Federal Financial Reporting (FFR) (required) 
The annual FFR form (SF-425) is required and must be submitted 90 days after the end of the 
budget period through the Payment Management System (PMS). The report must include only 

75

Item 11.

http://www.grantsolutions.gov/


  Page 45 of 57 

those funds authorized and disbursed during the timeframe covered by the report. The final FFR 
must indicate the exact balance of unobligated funds, and may not reflect any unliquidated 
obligations. There must be no discrepancies between the final FFR expenditure data and the 
Payment Management System’s (PMS) cash transaction data. Failure to submit the required 
information by the due date may adversely affect the future funding of the project. If the 
information cannot be provided by the due date, recipients are required to submit a letter of 
explanation to OGS and include the date by which the Grants Officer will receive information. 

e. Final Performance and Financial Report (required) 
The Final Performance Report is due 90 days after the end of the period of performance.  The 
Final FFR is due 90 days after the end of the period of performance and must be submitted 
through the Payment Management System (PMS). CDC programs must indicate that this report 
should not exceed 40 pages. This report covers the entire period of performance and can include 
information previously reported in APRs. At a minimum, this report must include the following: 

 Performance Measures – Recipients must report final performance data for all process 
and outcome performance measures. 

 Evaluation Results – Recipients must report final evaluation results for the period of 
performance for any evaluations conducted. 

 Impact/Results/Success Stories – Recipients must use their performance measure results 
and their evaluation findings to describe the effects or results of the work completed over 
the project period, and can include some success stories. 

 A final Data Management Plan that includes the location of the data collected during the 
funded period, for example, repository name and link data set(s) 

 Additional forms as described in the Notice of Award (e.g., Equipment Inventory Report, 
Final Invention Statement). 

4. Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 (FFATA) 
Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 (FFATA), P.L. 109–282, as 
amended by section 6202 of P.L. 110–252 requires full disclosure of all entities and 
organizations receiving Federal funds including awards, contracts, loans, other assistance, and 
payments through a single publicly accessible Web site, http://www.USASpending.gov. 

Compliance with this law is primarily the responsibility of the Federal agency. However, two 
elements of the law require information to be collected and reported by applicants: 1) 
information on executive compensation when not already reported through the SAM, and 2) 
similar information on all sub-awards/subcontracts/consortiums over $25,000. 

For the full text of the requirements under the FFATA and HHS guidelines, go to: 

 https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-109publ282/pdf/PLAW-109publ282.pdf,  

 https://www. fsrs.gov/documents /ffata_legislation_ 110_252.pdf  

 http://www.hhs.gov/grants/grants/grants-policies-regulations/index.html#FFATA. 

76

Item 11.

http://www.usaspending.gov/
https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-109publ282/pdf/PLAW-109publ282.pdf
https://www.fsrs.gov/documents/ffata_legislation_110_252.pdf
http://www.hhs.gov/grants/grants/grants-policies-regulations/index.html#FFATA


  Page 46 of 57 

5. Reporting of Foreign Taxes (International/Foreign projects only) 
A. Valued Added Tax (VAT) and Customs Duties – Customs and import duties, consular fees, 
customs surtax, valued added taxes, and other related charges are hereby authorized as an 
allowable cost for costs incurred for non-host governmental entities operating where no 
applicable tax exemption exists. This waiver does not apply to countries where a bilateral 
agreement (or similar legal document) is already in place providing applicable tax exemptions 
and it is not applicable to Ministries of Health. Successful applicants will receive information on 
VAT requirements via their Notice of Award. 
 
B. The U.S. Department of State requires that agencies collect and report information on the 
amount of taxes assessed, reimbursed and not reimbursed by a foreign government against 
commodities financed with funds appropriated by the U.S. Department of State, Foreign 
Operations and Related Programs Appropriations Act (SFOAA) (“United States foreign 
assistance funds”). Outlined below are the specifics of this requirement: 
 
1) Annual Report: The recipient must submit a report on or before November 16 for each foreign 
country on the amount of foreign taxes charged, as of September 30 of the same year, by a 
foreign government on commodity purchase transactions valued at 500 USD or more financed 
with United States foreign assistance funds under this grant during the prior United States fiscal 
year (October 1 – September 30), and the amount reimbursed and unreimbursed by the foreign 
government. [Reports are required even if the recipient did not pay any taxes during the reporting 
period.] 
 
2) Quarterly Report: The recipient must quarterly submit a report on the amount of foreign taxes 
charged by a foreign government on commodity purchase transactions valued at 500 USD or 
more financed with United States foreign assistance funds under this grant. This report shall be 
submitted no later than two weeks following the end of each quarter: April 15, July 15, October 
15 and January 15. 
 
3) Terms: For purposes of this clause: 
“Commodity” means any material, article, supplies, goods, or equipment; 
“Foreign government” includes any foreign government entity; 
“Foreign taxes” means value-added taxes and custom duties assessed by a foreign government 
on a commodity. It does not include foreign sales taxes. 
 
4) Where: Submit the reports to the Director and Deputy Director of the CDC office in the 
country(ies) in which you are carrying out the activities associated with this cooperative 
agreement. In countries where there is no CDC office, send reports to VATreporting@cdc.gov. 
 
5) Contents of Reports: The reports must contain: 

a. recipient name; 
b. contact name with phone, fax, and e-mail; 
c. agreement number(s) if reporting by agreement(s); 
d. reporting period; 
e. amount of foreign taxes assessed by each foreign government; 
f. amount of any foreign taxes reimbursed by each foreign government; 

77

Item 11.



  Page 47 of 57 

g. amount of foreign taxes unreimbursed by each foreign government. 
 
6) Subagreements. The recipient must include this reporting requirement in all applicable 
subgrants and other subagreements. 
  

6. Termination 
CDC may impose other enforcement actions in accordance with 45 CFR 75.371- Remedies for 
Noncompliance, as appropriate. 

The Federal award may be terminated in whole or in part as follows: 

(1) By the HHS awarding agency or pass-through entity, if the non-Federal entity fails to comply 
with the terms and conditions of the award; 

(2) By the HHS awarding agency or pass-through entity for cause; 

(3) By the HHS awarding agency or pass-through entity with the consent of the non-Federal 
entity, in which case the two parties must agree upon the termination conditions, including the 
effective date and, in the case of partial termination, the portion to be terminated; or 

(4) By the non-Federal entity upon sending to the HHS awarding agency or pass-through entity 
written notification setting forth the reasons for such termination, the effective date, and, in the 
case of partial termination, the portion to be terminated. However, if the HHS awarding agency 
or pass-through entity determines in the case of partial termination that the reduced or modified 
portion of the Federal award or subaward will not accomplish the purposes for which the Federal 
award was made, the HHS awarding agency or pass-through entity may terminate the Federal 
award in its entirety. 

G. Agency Contacts 
CDC encourages inquiries concerning this notice of funding opportunity. 

Program Office Contact 
For programmatic technical assistance, contact: 

First Name: 
Wendy 
Last Name: 
Heirendt 
Project Officer 
Department of Health and Human Services 
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 

Address: 
Telephone: 
Email: 
DFC_NOFO@cdc.gov 
Grants Staff Contact 
For financial, awards management, or budget assistance, contact: 

78

Item 11.



  Page 48 of 57 

First Name: 
Valencia  
Last Name: 
Williams 
Grants Management Specialist 
Department of Health and Human Services 
Office of Grants Services 

Address: 
Telephone: 
Email: 
DFC_OGS@cdc.gov 
For assistance with submission difficulties related to www.grants.gov, contact the Contact 
Center by phone at 1-800-518-4726.  
 
Hours of Operation: 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, except on federal holidays.   
 
CDC Telecommunications for persons with hearing loss is available at: TTY 1-888-232-6348 
H. Other Information 
Following is a list of acceptable attachments applicants can upload as PDF files as part of their 
application at www.grants.gov. Applicants may not attach documents other than those listed; if 
other documents are attached, applications will not be reviewed. 

 Project Abstract 

 Project Narrative 

 Budget Narrative 

 Report on Programmatic, Budgetary and Commitment Overlap 

 Table of Contents for Entire Submission 

For international NOFOs: 

 SF424 

 SF424A  

 Funding Preference Deliverables 

Optional attachments, as determined by CDC programs: 
Indirect Cost Rate, if applicable 

Non-profit organization IRS status forms, if applicable 

Risk Questionnaire and supporting documentation (please see Section D: Application and 
Submission Information Subsection 5 Pre-Award Assessments for more information).   
 
Additionally, please include the attachments cited in the table below:  

79

Item 11.

https://www.grants.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/


  Page 49 of 57 

 Required Attachments  

Attachment 
Reference  

Attachment 
Name  Naming convention to upload as a PDF to www.grants.gov  

Attachment 
1  

Sector Table 
and 12 
Coalition 
Involvement 
Agreements 
(CIAs)  

Applicants must submit the Sector Table and 12 Coalition 
Involvement Agreements (CIA) that are signed and dated for 
each of the 12 individual sector representatives. See Appendix 
C for sample CIA. 
Name the file “Attachment 1_Sector Table and 12 CIAs" 

Attachment 
2  

Assurance of 
DFC 10-Year 
Funding 
Limit   

Applicants must sign and date the assurance certifying that the 
coalition has not received more than 10 years of DFC funding.  
Name the file “Attachment 2_Assurance of 10-year Funding 
Limit” 

Attachment 
3  

Statement of 
Legal 
Eligibility 

Applicants must sign and date the Statement of Legal 
Eligibility to certify that they are legally eligible to receive 
federal funds and include either proof of non-profit 501(c)(3) 
status or a MOU. See Appendix D for sample MOU if needed. 
Name the file “Attachment 3_Statement of Legal 
Eligibility”  

Attachment 
4  

General 
Applicant 
Information   

Applicants must provide responses to each of the questions.   
Name the file “Attachment 4_General Applicant 
Information”   

Attachment 
5   

Congressional 
Notification   

Applicants must follow the exact format of the template and not 
exceed 35 lines nor exceed more than one page.   
Name the file “Attachment 5_Congressional Notification”   

Other Required Evidence  

Other Required Evidence 
Title Naming convention to upload as a PDF to www.grants.gov 

Coalition Minutes  
Applicant must upload one set of coalition minutes dated after 
January 2021. 
Name the file "Coalition Minutes" 

Resumes of Key Personnel 
or Position Description if 
vacant  

Applicant must upload Key Personnel Resumes or Position 
Description. 
Name the file "Key Personnel Resumes or Position 
Description" 

Letter of Mutual 
Cooperation 

Applicant must upload a Letter of Mutual Cooperation if there 
is ZIP code overlap between both coalitions. 
Name the file "Letter of  Mutual Cooperation" 

I. Glossary 
Activities: The actual events or actions that take place as a part of the program. 

80

Item 11.

http://www.grants.gov


  Page 50 of 57 

Administrative and National Policy Requirements, Additional Requirements 
(ARs): Administrative requirements found in 45 CFR Part 75 and other requirements mandated 
by statute or CDC policy. All ARs are listed in the Template for CDC programs. CDC programs 
must indicate which ARs are relevant to the NOFO; recipients must comply with the ARs listed 
in the NOFO. To view brief descriptions of relevant provisions, 
see .https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-requirements/index.html.  Note that 2 CFR 200 
supersedes the administrative requirements (A-110 & A-102), cost principles (A-21, A-87 & A-
122) and audit requirements (A-50, A-89 & A-133). 

Approved but Unfunded: Approved but unfunded refers to applications recommended for 
approval during the objective review process; however, they were not recommended for funding 
by the program office and/or the grants management office. 

Assistance Listings: A government-wide compendium published by the General Services 
Administration (available on-line in searchable format as well as in printable format as a .pdf 
file) that describes domestic assistance programs administered by the Federal Government. 

Assistance Listings Number: A unique number assigned to each program and NOFO 
throughout its lifecycle that enables data and funding tracking and transparency 

Award: Financial assistance that provides support or stimulation to accomplish a public purpose. 
Awards include grants and other agreements (e.g., cooperative agreements) in the form of 
money, or property in lieu of money, by the federal government to an eligible applicant. 

Budget Period or Budget Year: The duration of each individual funding period within the 
project period. Traditionally, budget periods are 12 months or 1 year. 

Carryover: Unobligated federal funds remaining at the end of any budget period that, with the 
approval of the GMO or under an automatic authority, may be carried over to another budget 
period to cover allowable costs of that budget period either as an offset or additional 
authorization. Obligated but liquidated funds are not considered carryover. 

Competing Continuation Award: A financial assistance mechanism that adds funds to a grant 
and adds one or more budget periods to the previously established period of performance (i.e., 
extends the “life” of the award). 

Continuous Quality Improvement: A system that seeks to improve the provision of services 
with an emphasis on future results. 

Contracts: An award instrument used to acquire (by purchase, lease, or barter) property or 
services for the direct benefit or use of the Federal Government. 

Cooperative Agreement: A financial assistance award with the same kind of interagency 
relationship as a grant except that it provides for substantial involvement by the federal agency 
funding the award. Substantial involvement means that the recipient can expect federal 
programmatic collaboration or participation in carrying out the effort under the award. 

Cost Sharing or Matching: Refers to program costs not borne by the Federal Government but 
by the recipients. It may include the value of allowable third-party, in-kind contributions, as well 
as expenditures by the recipient. 

81

Item 11.

https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-requirements/index.html


  Page 51 of 57 

Direct Assistance: A financial assistance mechanism, which must be specifically authorized by 
statute, whereby goods or services are provided to recipients in lieu of cash. DA generally 
involves the assignment of federal personnel or the provision of equipment or supplies, such as 
vaccines. DA is primarily used to support payroll and travel expenses of CDC employees 
assigned to state, tribal, local, and territorial (STLT) health agencies that are recipients of grants 
and cooperative agreements. Most legislative authorities that provide financial assistance to 
STLT health agencies allow for the use of DA. https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-
requirements/index.html. 

DUNS: The Dun and Bradstreet (D&B) Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number is a 
nine-digit number assigned by Dun and Bradstreet Information Services. When applying for 
Federal awards or cooperative agreements, all applicant organizations must obtain a DUNS 
number as the Universal Identifier. DUNS number assignment is free. If requested by telephone, 
a DUNS number will be provided immediately at no charge. If requested via the Internet, 
obtaining a DUNS number may take one to two days at no charge. If an organization does not 
know its DUNS number or needs to register for one, visit Dun & Bradstreet 
at  http://fedgov.dnb.com/ webform/displayHomePage.do. 

Evaluation (program evaluation): The systematic collection of information about the activities, 
characteristics, and outcomes of programs (which may include interventions, policies, and 
specific projects) to make judgments about that program, improve program effectiveness, and/or 
inform decisions about future program development. 

Evaluation Plan: A written document describing the overall approach that will be used to guide 
an evaluation, including why the evaluation is being conducted, how the findings will likely be 
used, and the design and data collection sources and methods. The plan specifies what will be 
done, how it will be done, who will do it, and when it will be done. The NOFO evaluation plan is 
used to describe how the recipient and/or CDC will determine whether activities are 
implemented appropriately and outcomes are achieved. 

Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 (FFATA): Requires that 
information about federal awards, including awards, contracts, loans, and other assistance and 
payments, be available to the public on a single website at www.USAspending.gov. 

Fiscal Year: The year for which budget dollars are allocated annually. The federal fiscal year 
starts October 1 and ends September 30. 

Grant: A legal instrument used by the federal government to transfer anything of value to a 
recipient for public support or stimulation authorized by statute. Financial assistance may be 
money or property. The definition does not include a federal procurement subject to the Federal 
Acquisition Regulation; technical assistance (which provides services instead of money); or 
assistance in the form of revenue sharing, loans, loan guarantees, interest subsidies, insurance, or 
direct payments of any kind to a person or persons. The main difference between a grant and a 
cooperative agreement is that in a grant there is no anticipated substantial programmatic 
involvement by the federal government under the award. 

Grants.gov: A "storefront" web portal for electronic data collection (forms and reports) for 
federal grant-making agencies at www.grants.gov. 

82

Item 11.

https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-requirements/index.html
https://www.cdc.gov/grants/additional-requirements/index.html
http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform/displayHomePage.do
http://www.usaspending.gov/
https://www.grants.gov/


  Page 52 of 57 

Grants Management Officer (GMO): The individual designated to serve as the HHS official 
responsible for the business management aspects of a particular grant(s) or cooperative 
agreement(s). The GMO serves as the counterpart to the business officer of the recipient 
organization. In this capacity, the GMO is responsible for all business management matters 
associated with the review, negotiation, award, and administration of grants and interprets grants 
administration policies and provisions. The GMO works closely with the program or project 
officer who is responsible for the scientific, technical, and programmatic aspects of the grant. 

Grants Management Specialist (GMS): A federal staff member who oversees the business and 
other non-programmatic aspects of one or more grants and/or cooperative agreements. These 
activities include, but are not limited to, evaluating grant applications for administrative content 
and compliance with regulations and guidelines, negotiating grants, providing consultation and 
technical assistance to recipients, post-award administration and closing out grants. 

Health Disparities: Differences in health outcomes and their determinants among segments of 
the population as defined by social, demographic, environmental, or geographic category. 

Health Equity: Striving for the highest possible standard of health for all people and giving 
special attention to the needs of those at greatest risk of poor health, based on social conditions. 

Health Inequities: Systematic, unfair, and avoidable differences in health outcomes and their 
determinants between segments of the population, such as by socioeconomic status (SES), 
demographics, or geography. 

Healthy People 2030: National health objectives aimed at improving the health of all Americans 
by encouraging collaboration across sectors, guiding people toward making informed health 
decisions, and measuring the effects of prevention activities. 

Inclusion: Both the meaningful involvement of a community’s members in all stages of the 
program process and the maximum involvement of the target population that the intervention 
will benefit. Inclusion ensures that the views, perspectives, and needs of affected communities, 
care providers, and key partners are considered. 

Indirect Costs: Costs that are incurred for common or joint objectives and not readily and 
specifically identifiable with a particular sponsored project, program, or activity; nevertheless, 
these costs are necessary to the operations of the organization. For example, the costs of 
operating and maintaining facilities, depreciation, and administrative salaries generally are 
considered indirect costs. 

Letter of Intent (LOI): A preliminary, non-binding indication of an organization’s intent to 
submit an application. 

Lobbying: Direct lobbying includes any attempt to influence legislation, appropriations, 
regulations, administrative actions, executive orders (legislation or other orders), or other similar 
deliberations at any level of government through communication that directly expresses a view 
on proposed or pending legislation or other orders, and which is directed to staff members or 
other employees of a legislative body, government officials, or employees who participate in 
formulating legislation or other orders. Grass roots lobbying includes efforts directed at inducing 
or encouraging members of the public to contact their elected representatives at the federal, state, 
or local levels to urge support of, or opposition to, proposed or pending legislative proposals. 

83

Item 11.



  Page 53 of 57 

Logic Model: A visual representation showing the sequence of related events connecting the 
activities of a program with the programs’ desired outcomes and results. 

Maintenance of Effort: A requirement contained in authorizing legislation, or applicable 
regulations that a recipient must agree to contribute and maintain a specified level of financial 
effort from its own resources or other non-government sources to be eligible to receive federal 
grant funds. This requirement is typically given in terms of meeting a previous base-year dollar 
amount. 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) or Memorandum of Agreement 
(MOA): Document that describes a bilateral or multilateral agreement between parties 
expressing a convergence of will between the parties, indicating an intended common line of 
action. It is often used in cases where the parties either do not imply a legal commitment or 
cannot create a legally enforceable agreement. 

Nonprofit Organization: Any corporation, trust, association, cooperative, or other organization 
that is operated primarily for scientific, educational, service, charitable, or similar purposes in the 
public interest; is not organized for profit; and uses net proceeds to maintain, improve, or expand 
the operations of the organization. Nonprofit organizations include institutions of higher 
educations, hospitals, and tribal organizations (that is, Indian entities other than federally 
recognized Indian tribal governments). 

Notice of Award (NoA): The official document, signed (or the electronic equivalent of 
signature) by a Grants Management Officer that: (1) notifies the recipient of the award of a grant; 
(2) contains or references all the terms and conditions of the grant and Federal funding limits and 
obligations; and (3) provides the documentary basis for recording the obligation of Federal funds 
in the HHS accounting system.  

Objective Review: A process that involves the thorough and consistent examination of 
applications based on an unbiased evaluation of scientific or technical merit or other relevant 
aspects of the proposal. The review is intended to provide advice to the persons responsible for 
making award decisions. 

Outcome: The results of program operations or activities; the effects triggered by the program. 
For example, increased knowledge, changed attitudes or beliefs, reduced tobacco use, reduced 
morbidity and mortality. 

Performance Measurement: The ongoing monitoring and reporting of program 
accomplishments, particularly progress toward pre-established goals, typically conducted by 
program or agency management. Performance measurement may address the type or level of 
program activities conducted (process), the direct products and services delivered by a program 
(outputs), or the results of those products and services (outcomes). A “program” may be any 
activity, project, function, or policy that has an identifiable purpose or set of objectives. 

Period of performance –formerly known as the project period - : The time during which the 
recipient may incur obligations to carry out the work authorized under the Federal award. The 
start and end dates of the period of performance must be included in the Federal award. 

Period of Performance Outcome: An outcome that will occur by the end of the NOFO's 
funding period 

84

Item 11.



  Page 54 of 57 

Plain Writing Act of 2010: The Plain Writing Act of 2010 requires that federal agencies use 
clear communication that the public can understand and use. NOFOs must be written in clear, 
consistent language so that any reader can understand expectations and intended outcomes of the 
funded program. CDC programs should use NOFO plain writing tips when writing NOFOs. 

Program Strategies: Strategies are groupings of related activities, usually expressed as general 
headers (e.g., Partnerships, Assessment, Policy) or as brief statements (e.g., Form partnerships, 
Conduct assessments, Formulate policies).   

Program Official: Person responsible for developing the NOFO; can be either a project officer, 
program manager, branch chief, division leader, policy official, center leader, or similar staff 
member. 

Public Health Accreditation Board (PHAB): A nonprofit organization that works to promote 
and protect the health of the public by advancing the quality and performance of public health 
departments in the U.S. through national public health department 
accreditation http://www.phaboard.org. 

Social Determinants of Health: Conditions in the environments in which people are born, live, 
learn, work, play, worship, and age that affect a wide range of health, functioning, and quality-
of-life outcomes and risks. 

Statute: An act of the legislature; a particular law enacted and established by the will of the 
legislative department of government, expressed with the requisite formalities. In foreign or civil 
law any particular municipal law or usage, though resting for its authority on judicial decisions, 
or the practice of nations. 

Statutory Authority: Authority provided by legal statute that establishes a federal financial 
assistance program or award. 

System for Award Management (SAM): The primary vendor database for the U.S. federal 
government. SAM validates applicant information and electronically shares secure and encrypted 
data with federal agencies' finance offices to facilitate paperless payments through Electronic 
Funds Transfer (EFT). SAM stores organizational information, allowing www.grants.gov to 
verify identity and pre-fill organizational information on grant applications. 

Technical Assistance: Advice, assistance, or training pertaining to program development, 
implementation, maintenance, or evaluation that is provided by the funding agency. 
 
Work Plan: The summary of period of performance outcomes, strategies and activities, 
personnel and/or partners who will complete the activities, and the timeline for completion. The 
work plan will outline the details of all necessary activities that will be supported through the 
approved budget. 

NOFO-specific Glossary and Acronyms 
Achievable (related to outcomes): Attainable within a given timeframe and with available 
project resources. 
Allocability (cost principle): A cost is allocable to a specific grant, function, department, or 
other component, known as a cost objective, if the goods or services involved are chargeable or 
assignable to that cost objective in accordance with the relative benefits received or other 
equitable relationship. 

85

Item 11.

http://www.phaboard.org/
https://www.grants.gov/


  Page 55 of 57 

Allowable cost: A cost incurred by a recipient that is: 
i. Reasonable for the performance of the award; 
ii. Allocable; 
iii. In conformance with, or incorporated by reference, any limitations or exclusions set forth in 
the federal cost principles applicable to the organization incurring the cost or the Notice of 
Award (NOA) as to type or amount; 
iv. Consistent with regulations, policies and procedures of the recipient that apply uniformly to 
both federally supported and other activities of the organization; 
v. Determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and Not included as 
a cost in any other federally supported award (unless specifically authorized by statute). 
Authorized Organization Representative: The AOR is the representative of the 
applicant/recipient organization with authority to act on the organization’s behalf in matters 
related to the award and administration of grants. In signing a grant application, this individual 
agrees that the organization will assume the obligations imposed by applicable Federal statutes 
and regulations and other terms and conditions of the award, including any assurances, if a grant 
is awarded. These responsibilities include overseeing the financial aspects of the grant and the 
performance of the grant-supported project or activities as specified in the approved 
application This person must be an employee of the recipient organization.   
Coalition Involvement Agreement: A single, mutual agreement between the coalition and each 
one of its 12 sector members establishing the minimum expectations and contributions to be 
leveraged on behalf of the community, the coalition, and the implementation of the award. 
Community-level Change: Change that occurs within the overall population of the community. 
Community Readiness: The degree to which a community is prepared to take action on an 
issue. 
Congressional District: An electoral division of a state entitled to send one member to the U.S. 
House of Representatives (federal congressional district). 
Consistency (cost principle): Regulations regarding cost assignment must be consistent for all 
work of the organization under similar circumstances, regardless of the source of funding, to 
avoid duplicate charges. 
DFC Me: DFC’s Management and Evaluation system used for grant communications and 
progress reporting in concert with CDC’s grants management system GrantSolutions. DFC Me is 
also used as a learning center for award recipients. 
Economically Disadvantaged Area: An area with 20 percent or more children living in 
households below the poverty line as defined by the U.S. Census Bureau. 
Key Personnel: Individuals, in addition to the principal investigator/program director (PI/PD), 
identified by the OPDIV in the Notice of Award (NOA) that are considered critical to the project 
(i.e., their removal or absence from the project would have a significant impact on the project). 
The PI/PD is always considered both a “key person” and a “principal.” Other key personnel 
generally are not considered “principals” for purposes of suspension and debarment. 
Level of Effort: Direct time spent by an individual on program-related work. Across all 
projects/grants/positions, the level of effort for an individual may not exceed 100 percent. 
Measurable (related to outcomes): How much change is expected. It must be possible to count 
or otherwise quantify an activity or its results. It also means that the source of and mechanism for 
collecting measurement data can be identified and that collection of the data is feasible for the 
project. A baseline measurement is required to document change (e.g., to measure the percentage 
of increase or decrease). If an applicant plans to use a specific measurement instrument, it is 

86

Item 11.



  Page 56 of 57 

recommended that the instrument is incorporated into the outcome. 
New Coalition:  A new coalition must fit the following criteria: 
The proposed new, unique, and distinct coalition 

a. must be made up of different leadership and sector representatives from the community. 
b. must have a new name and mission statement. 
c. must have a 12-Month Action Plan based on a newly conducted community needs 

assessment 
d. must serve a new population.   

Objectives: What is to be accomplished during a specific period of time to move toward 
achievement of a goal. Measurable objectives must include the following elements: 

 The type of change; 
 How much change will occur, including the specific amount of increase or decrease; 
 The specific population to be addressed (if population is youth, the ages of youth or grade 

level are identified); 
 A specific date (month/year) by when change will be accomplished; and Indicates how 

change will be measured 

Other Sources of Support: Funds or resources, whether federal, non-federal, or institutional, 
available to the Program Director, Principal Investigator, or Project Coordinator in direct support 
of their activities through grants, cooperative agreements, contracts, fellowships, gifts, prizes, 
and other means. 
Pass-through Program: A program where the recipient’s role is to select subrecipients that are 
expected to provide the services that are the purpose of the grant, coordinating and overseeing 
their activities, and providing the administrative support needed to meet OPDIV requirements. 
Recipients under the DFC Support Program are not permitted to run their program as a 
passthrough program. 
Program Director/Principal Investigator (PD/PI): The individual(s) designated by the 
recipient to direct the project or program being supported by the grant. The PD/PI is responsible 
and accountable to officials of the recipient organization for the proper conduct of the project, 
program, or activity. 
Project Coordinator: An individual who coordinates the work of the coalition and program 
activities, including training, coalition communication, data collection, and information 
dissemination. The Project Coordinator will be listed on the DFC website if the grant is awarded. 
Reasonableness (cost principle; including necessity): A cost if it does not exceed that which 
would be incurred by a prudent person under the circumstances prevailing at the time the 
decision was made to incur the cost. 
Realistic (related to outcomes): Within the scope of the project and propose reasonable 
programmatic steps that can be implemented within a specific timeframe. Recipient: Conduct the 
day-to-day operations of the grant program. 
Rural: According to the Drug-Free Communities Act of 1997, rural is defined as a county with a 
population that does not exceed 30,000 individuals. 
Social Indicator Data: Numerical measures that describe the well-being of individuals or 
communities. Indicators are comprised of one variable or several components combined into an 
index. They are used to describe and evaluate community well-being in terms of social, 
economic, and psychological welfare. Community-level social indicators can be useful in 

87

Item 11.



  Page 57 of 57 

community assessments for different purposes. An assessment to identify community issues and 
problems, for instance, might rely on such indicators as the incidence of a disease or medical 
condition either in the community at large, or in a particular social, ethnic, or geographic group. 
Specific (related to outcomes): Includes the “who” and “what” of program activities. Use only 
one action verb to avoid issues with measuring success. 
Strategy: An overarching strategic plan, action, initiative, or policy approach designed to 
achieve a key or primary aim or objective the coalition intends to achieve intended results. 
Supplement not supplant: A form of maintenance of effort requirement that specifies that 
federal funds received may not be used to replace existing state, local, or agency funds with 
federal funds. Federal funds may be used to supplement existing activities. Existing state, local, 
or agency funds for a project, may not be replaced by federal funds and reallocated for other 
organizational expenses. The baseline for a supplement-not-supplant requirement may be the 
recipient’s previous fiscal year or another baseline year or period. 
Time-bound (related to outcomes): Provide a timeframe indicating when the outcome will be 
measured or a time by when the outcome will be met. 
Urban: According to the Census Bureau classifies as all territory, population, and housing units 
located within an urbanized area (UA) or urban cluster (UC). It delineates UA and UC 
boundaries to encompass densely settled territory, which consists of Core Census block groups 
or blocks that have a population density of at least 1,000 people per square mile and surrounding 
census blocks that have an overall density of at least 500 people per square mile. 
  

88

Item 11.



 

BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL 
AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

Acceptance of an “Agricultural Use” application that was not timely filed the first penalty date. (R600 
037 000 020H 0000) 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance Committee Meeting, March 21, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Ebony F. Sanders, Assessor, Beaufort County Assessor’s Office 
(10 minutes needed for item discussion) 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 
 
Applications for the “Agricultural Use Valuation” not filed on or before the first penalty date is 
considered abandoned for the tax year in which the special assessment is claimed.   
 
In accordance with 12-43-220 states the following, “a failure to apply constitutes a waiver of the 
special assessment for that year.  The governing body may extend the time for filing upon a showing 
satisfactory to it that the person had reasonable cause for not filing on or before the first penalty date.” 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 
The property was unaware of the filing date due to caring for a sick parent (whom the property was 
previously owned and from to the current owner).   
 
If approved, the property owner can seek a refund of taxes paid without the Agricultural Use valuation. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

  Not applicable 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Allow the Assessor to accept the current property owner “Agricultural Use” valuation for TY2021 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 
 APPROVE or REJECT extending the time for filing for “Agricultural Use” valuation for tax year 2021 (R600 
037 000 020H 000. 

 

Digitally signed by Ebony 
Sanders 
Date: 2022.03.02 11:37:57 
-05'00'

89

Item 12.



BEAUFORT COUNTY COUNCIL                   

      AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY 

 

ITEM TITLE: 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING PARKS & RECEREATION DEPARTMENT TO APPLY FOR A $300,000 GRANT FROM 
SOUTH CAROLINA PARKS, RECREATION & TOURISM 

MEETING NAME AND DATE: 

Finance Committee, March 21, 2022 

PRESENTER INFORMATION: 

Chuck Atkinson, ACA-Development/Recreation 

5 minutes 

ITEM BACKGROUND: 

Every two years, the South Carolina Department of Parks, Recreation and Tourism (SCPRT) offers a grant 
opportunity through the Land Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) program to provide funding for recreational 
projects.  

 

PROJECT / ITEM NARRATIVE: 

Beaufort County’s Parks and Recreation Department identified this program as a possible source of funding to 
help defray the anticipated cost (approximately $600,000) of the planned Pickleball Courts complex at Burton 
Wells. Unfortunately, the deadline to apply for the grants was March 11, 2022. In order to meet the deadline, 
the Parks & Recreation Department applied for the grant and now seeks Council’s authorization for the 
application.  The awards are expected to be announced by SCPRT in October 2022. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT:  

If awarded, the $300,000 from SCPRT will be added to a $340,000 award from this year’s  State and Local 
Accommodations Tax awards which, at the time this AIS and Resolution were drafted, was making its way 
through Council. 

The LWCF grants are awarded on a reimbursement basis. Therefore, the Parks & Recreation Department will 
need to expend the funds from its FY23 budget first, and then seek reimbursement from SCPRT. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL: 

Staff recommends approval of the request. . 

 

OPTIONS FOR COUNCIL MOTION: 

Approve the Motion and move forward to County Council’s meeting on March 28, 2022. 

Deny the Motion   

 

90

Item 13.



RESOLUTION 2022/ _____ 

 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING PARKS & RECEREATION 

DEPARTMENT TO APPLY FOR A $300,000 GRANT FROM SOUTH 

CAROLINA PARKS, RECREATION & TOURISM 
 

 WHEREAS, every two years, the South Carolina Department of Parks, Recreation and 

Tourism (SCPRT) offers a grant opportunity through the Land Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) 

program to provide funding for recreational projects; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Beaufort County has identified this as an opportunity to apply for a $300,000 

grant from SCPRT to fund approximately half of the planned Burton Wells Pickleball Courts 

project. Awards are expected to be announced by SCPRT in October 2022. These funds are 

awarded on a reimbursement basis. The other half of the funds for the project will come from this 

year’s State and Local Accommodations Tax awards which are currently making their way through 

Council; and 

 

WHEREAS, because the deadline to apply for this grant was March 11, 2022, Beaufort 

County submitted it already but it seeks Council’s authorization retroactively. 

   

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Council of Beaufort County, 

South Carolina, that County Council does hereby authorize the Parks & Recreation Department to 

apply for the SCPRT grant of $300,000 for construction of the planned Pickleball Courts project 

at Burton Wells with the understanding that these funds, if awarded, will be provided to Beaufort 

County on a reimbursement basis.  

 

 

 Adopted this ____ day of ________________, 2022. 

 

      COUNTY COUNCIL OF BEAUFORT COUNTY 

 

 

 

      By:        

       Joseph Passiment, Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 

 

       

Sarah Brock, Clerk to Council 

91

Item 13.


	Top
	Item 5.	APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	2.22.22

	Item 7.	Division Update
	ITEM-Staff-650607f67c4d482b95e826903bbc3e60

	Item 8.	Discussion and presentation of year to date financial statements for FY 2022.
	AIS Financial Statements
	Finance Committee Report for 02-28-2022

	Item 9.	RECOMMEND APPROVAL OF FIRST READING OF AN ORDINANCE FOR A BUDGET AMENDMENT APPROPRIATING CURRENT FISCAL YEAR 2022 SURPLUSES
	AIS Use of surplus
	Uses of Fund Balance
	2021-22 budget amendment re pool repairs COVID pay and EMS supplies 3-15-22

	Item 10.	Discussion of Hilton Head Island Airport Terminal financing.
	AIS HHI AIrport Financing
	Airport Financing

	Item 11.	DFC Grant Application Submittal Request
	AIS A&D
	CDC-RFA-CE22-2205 (5)

	Item 12.	Acceptance of an "Agricultural Use" application
	Agricultural Use AIS

	Item 13.	A Resolution to Apply & Accept the SC Parks and Recreation Tourism Grant for Burton Wells Pickleball Court
	AIS - SCPRT Pickleball Courts Grant Application.2
	Resolution - SCPRT - Pickleball Courts Grant Application.2-TK

	Bottom

